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 1 Wednesday, March 18, 2015; Los Angeles, California

 2 1:35 p.m.

 3 -oOo-

 4 COMMISSIONER DENNIS:  Okay.  Folks, we probably 

 5 should get started.  Thanks to all of you who got here on 

 6 time.  And make let me make sure I reward you by starting 

 7 on time.  Good afternoon.  I'm Duane Dennis.  I'm your 

 8 chair for this afternoon.  And the first that thing we 

 9 will do is introductions.  

10 COMMISSIONER ABDO:  Judy Abdo, commissioner.  

11 COMMISSIONER BOSTWICK:  Susan Bostwick, 

12 Department of Public Health.  

13 COMMISSIONER CURRY:  Patricia Curry, 

14 commissioner.  

15 MS. NUNO:  Teresa Nuno, acting chief of program 

16 planning, First 5 LA.  

17 MR. JIMENEZ:  Armando Jimenez, director of 

18 research and evaluation. First 5 LA.  

19 MR. ESPINOZA:  Good afternoon.  Marvin Espinoza, 

20 senior program officer,  Best Start Communities of First 5 

21 LA.

22 MR. GONZALEZ:  Rafael Gonzalez, also with Best 

23 Start Communities.

24 MR. LAFRANCE:  Steven LaFrance, founder and CEO 

25 Learning For Action.  
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 1 COMMISSIONER DENNIS:  Welcome back, Steven. 

 2 MS. BELSHE:  Looks like you got a haircut.  

 3 MR. LAFRANCE:  My commission best.  Yes.  

 4 COMMISSIONER DENNIS:  Jessica?  

 5 MS. KACZMAREK:  Jessica Kaczmarek, office of 

 6 strategic planning and implementation.  

 7 MS. BELSHE:  And Jessica has a bad cold, so don't 

 8 make her talk too much.  

 9 MR. NOLLEDO:  Good afternoon.  Raoul Nolledo, 

10 policy department. 

11  MR. VIRAMONTES:  And Roberto Viramontes, also 

12 with the policy department.  

13 COMMISSIONER DENNIS:  Show time.  

14 COMMISSIONER AU:  Nancy Au, commissioner.  

15 COMMISSIONER YBARRA:  Joseph Ybarra, 

16 commissioner.  

17 COMMISSIONER TILTON:  Deanne Tilton, 

18 commissioner.  

19 MS. BELSHE:  Kim Belshe, First 5.

20 SECRETARY:  Linda Vo, First 5.

21 SPEAKER:  Melissa Carlos, First 5.

22 MS. GONZALEZ:  Heatherlynn Gonzalez, 

23 stenographer.  

24 SPEAKER:  Lisa Delgadillo, Department of Public 

25 Health. 
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 1  SPEAKER:  Diane Luce (phonetic), Department of 

 2 Public Health, research and evaluation.  

 3 SPEAKER:  I am Stacy Lee, policy, First 5 LA.  

 4 MR. ORTEGA:  Raoul Ortega, First 5 LA.  

 5 SPEAKER:  Miranda (inaudible).  

 6 MS. RABEL:  Lee Rabel, First 5 LA.  

 7 SPEAKER:  (Inaudible) first 5 LA.  

 8 (Multiple speakers.) 

 9 SPEAKER:  So he's seeing it in action this 

10 afternoon.  

11 COMMISSIONER DENNIS:  You need more than a week, 

12 young man.  

13 SPEAKER:  Thank you for having me.  

14 COMMISSIONER DENNIS:  Thank you for being here.  

15 MS. ECKERT:  Jennifer Eckert, contracts First 5 

16 LA.  

17 COMMISSIONER DENNIS:  Thank you all.  I think the 

18 first order of business is to approve our notes from not 

19 only last month but from November.  We -- if you remember, 

20 since we had that little break, I asked you all to review 

21 them.  So we will be accepting two sets of notes.  Way to 

22 go.  

23 MS. BELSHE:  -- just needed one hand.  

24 COMMISSIONER DENNIS:  So are there any edits, 

25 deletions, or corrections in the minutes of not only last 
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 1 month but the minutes of November 2014? 

 2  Not hearing none.  We will -- not hearing any 

 3 edits or corrections or -- we will file and use those 

 4 notes. 

 5  Okay.  Who do we have up now?  

 6 MS. BELSHE:  We have employee number 1.

 7 COMMISSIONER DENNIS:  Armando, you're never here.  

 8 MS. BELSHE:  Wait a minute.  I'd like to correct 

 9 for the record, Armando is always here but generally he 

10 has his staff colleagues who are leading work testify and 

11 engage the commission directly, which is a great modeling 

12 skill, but we have the real deal.  

13 COMMISSIONER DENNIS:  Armando.  

14 MR. JIMENEZ:  So today I'm the opening act.  So 

15 before we get into that, I wanted to remind the board that 

16 at the last P and P committee meeting, which was on 

17 February 26th, my esteemed colleagues Tara and her team 

18 and the expiring grants team made a presentation to folks 

19 who were here around expiring grants.  And in that 

20 presentation, there was a reference to an assessment of 

21 our new projects.  So today wanted to talk a little bit 

22 more about that assessment.  So I -- I also wanted to say 

23 that it's really been great being a part of the expiring 

24 grants team, and it's really a tough thing to look at, but 

25 they've done a wonderful job.  So I want to thank them for 
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 1 all the work. 

 2  So what did we want to accomplish with this 

 3 presentation with the few minutes I have with you today, I 

 4 really wanted to make sure we left this presentation with 

 5 having you have an understanding of the assessment that we 

 6 do.  I wanted to outline the reasons why we did the 

 7 assessment and the process we use.  Finally, I wanted to 

 8 outline what the implications are for the strategic plan 

 9 in the sense for the work that we have now, and to talk a 

10 little bit about some of the -- just very briefly about 

11 some of the future discussions that we'll be having around 

12 research and evaluation, which I won't talk about the 

13 acronyms, but you'll be hearing them soon, about our 

14 framework assess to work and to learn. 

15  So as you see here, we have approximately 40 

16 projects that we're providing oversight to in R and E.  In 

17 any given day, that may change by one or two.  But 

18 generally this is the number of projects that we have.  

19 And just as a point of reference, that is approximately 

20 4.8 percent of the programmatic budget in terms of the 

21 budget allocations for all of these projects. 

22  Now there's -- projects are not a one size fits 

23 all.  There's a variety of projects.  They vary in size, 

24 magnitude, stage of implementation.  And in fact, I think 

25 the variety of the projects has created a challenge from 
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 1 both a management perspective in terms of managing the 

 2 work, but also I think from a learning perspective.  It's 

 3 really created a challenge because we tend to get lost in 

 4 the minutia of projects and we rarely get a chance to step 

 5 outside of them and ask ourselves what are we learning, 

 6 what are we seeing, what are we witnessing, what are we 

 7 observing, how can we bring that back to not only our own 

 8 work but the work that others are doing in the community.  

 9 So that's something I think has been a challenge for not 

10 just R and E, but for the whole commission since the very 

11 beginning. 

12  So we're coming from a place where the bulk of 

13 our evaluation work was focused on direct service programs 

14 and discrete programmatic interventions.  So the majority 

15 of the work that we've done in the past is, we funded 

16 initiative and we evaluated.  We funded initiative and we 

17 evaluated.  So you could imagine this long train of 

18 program evaluations circling.  So that's kind of the work 

19 that we're coming from in terms of this previous strategic 

20 plan and even strategic plans before that.  And as a 

21 result, we're zooming in on the progress that's being made 

22 mostly at the program level and mostly with program 

23 participants.  One of the findings from L-3, which I think 

24 is something that we've known, I think it was important to 

25 highlight is that really the work that we've done, the 
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 1 investments we've made, and the results we've seen have 

 2 been primarily with program participants.  

 3 MS. BELSHE:  And again, just -- L-3 being?  

 4 MR. JIMENEZ:  Listening, learning, and leading, 

 5 was an initiative to really do an assessment of where we 

 6 are and what we're doing and what we're learning.  Sorry 

 7 about that.  We tend to get caught up in our acronyms and 

 8 all of that. 

 9  So one of the elements was to actually look at 

10 all of our evaluations.  We did.  We did a composite  

11 review of all of the evaluations.  And the major take-away 

12 was that, as a commission, we have done a really good job 

13 of -- of actually influencing and improving outcomes at a 

14 participant level with families individually, but groups 

15 of them.  We have not really had an opportunity as a 

16 commission to move the needle with regard to the 

17 population level.  I think that's an important lesson and 

18 I think it's a lesson that we've taken into this new 

19 strategic planning work that we're looking at and we're 

20 focusing on, and I'm hopeful in the future those are the 

21 kinds of things we'll be reporting on. 

22  So in a sense the rationale was that we really 

23 felt compelled to examine all of our research and 

24 evaluation projects.  And we wanted to ask this question 

25 about how the work that we're doing can help us move 
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 1 forward with the work of the future and not to have the 

 2 work be a documentation of the work of the past.  It's 

 3 really about how we look towards the future, how can we 

 4 use the learning and work in evaluation of results moving 

 5 forward.  So how can we use the projects that we're doing 

 6 so they could be much more relevant now.  That's really 

 7 the rationale of the projects. 

 8  So one of the things that we're all very, very 

 9 aware of and, as the commission's been aware of during 

10 this strategic planning process, is the graph in the back, 

11 which I think is probably one of the more kind of, I would 

12 say, influential pieces of information that we've had as a 

13 commission because it really allows us to look at what we 

14 have available to us in the future.  And the important 

15 thing about that is that we need to think about how to 

16 make better decisions today for those dollars that we will 

17 have available to us tomorrow. 

18  So one of the things that we want -- we were very 

19 sensitive to is not just the amount of money that we're 

20 spending on the evaluation and research projects; it's 

21 about how we can actually use information to make better 

22 decisions.  So that was really a key factor in kind of 

23 moving us towards this assessment. 

24  The other thing we wanted to do is, we wanted to 

25 make sure that we had an opportunity to prioritize our 
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 1 staff resources.  I also wanted to say that human capitol, 

 2 our individuals here, is -- is extremely valuable.  Aside 

 3 from the dollars that we expend on the work, it's really 

 4 the human man capitol.  And it's not just isolated to R 

 5 and E.  We actually have program staff that are involved, 

 6 we have administrative staff that are involved.  I also 

 7 want to highlight that our partners in the community are 

 8 involved.  We ask a tremendous amount of them to be 

 9 involved and engaged in our evaluations.  We sometimes ask 

10 participants of their programs to be involved.  As 

11 providers, we ask them to engage in our survey work and 

12 our assessment work.  So it's not just our time that we're 

13 thinking about, it's time of the community.  So we're 

14 extremely sensitive to that.  So if we're thinking about 

15 doing work that really will help us for the future, that 

16 kind of time invested may not be to our advantage. 

17  So that's really -- I wanted to really highlight 

18 that because we always think about our own staff of 

19 resources that we're dedicated to our evaluation work, but 

20 it's much, much more. 

21  The other thing is there's -- there's really no 

22 better time to build the work of the evaluation and -- 

23 research and evaluation work than now.  I think the work 

24 that's ahead of us is extremely exciting.  It's going to 

25 be extremely challenging.  And the reason why it's going 
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 1 to be extremely challenging because, the things we're 

 2 going to do in the future is not just a shift around the 

 3 department -- R and E department's work.  It's really a 

 4 shift in how the organization is going to do its work.  

 5 So we as the First 5 LA have always thought about 

 6 evaluation being within a certain department and the 

 7 research work.  We I think in the future want to be as an 

 8 organization involved at all levels of the learning, all 

 9 levels of evaluation, and to be good consumers of the 

10 research and data that we generate. 

11  So I'm going to spend just a few minutes at a 

12 very high level, kind of outlining the process we use to 

13 assess the 40 or so projects that we have.  So what I 

14 wanted to emphasize is that we did assess the projects 

15 based on criteria.  We think that one of the things that's 

16 been very helpful for us as staff is to think about using 

17 criteria to do assessments of any kind of work that we do.  

18 And what was really important for us is to ground the 

19 criteria of what we've already done with the strategic 

20 plan.  So we look at strategic plan criteria was, how do 

21 we adapt that to assessing the R and E projects.  So that 

22 that's exactly what we did. 

23  We conducted the review of our projects between 

24 the month of December and January.  It was kind of an 

25 extra workload given that it was a holiday time, but we 
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 1 felt it was important because it was right at the heels of 

 2 the commission's approval of the strategic plan in 

 3 November.  So we felt it was a good time.  It was really a 

 4 good opportunity to do an assessment.  The other important 

 5 factor project is, we have quite a few evaluation projects 

 6 that were early enough that if we had an opportunity to 

 7 influence them, we could.  So that's another really 

 8 important part of this assessment.  So we -- the whole 

 9 department, the R and E department, was involved in the 

10 assessment.  We actually engaged every single member of 

11 the R and E department. 

12  We also were able to bring information and get 

13 input from Jessica.  Thank you, Jessica, and your team.  

14 And also from members of the executive team.  So we had an 

15 opportunity to present our assessment findings to members 

16 of the executive team and to Jessica as well. 

17  So very briefly, the criteria that we really 

18 focused on was really three elements:  One was stage of 

19 the project implementation.  And this is critical because 

20 we have some projects that in fact are at the end of their 

21 cycle.  So what we decided is that it wouldn't be worth 

22 our time and effort to score them because the project is 

23 ending.  So we actually looked at stage of implementation 

24 and found that there were certain projects that were 

25 naturally coming to a close.  So from those that actually 
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 1 had enough time or the stage of implementation was early 

 2 enough that we included them in a group to score. 

 3  So the primary criteria was strategic plan 

 4 alignment.  And we looked at the alignment related to the 

 5 strategies that were articulated and relevance of the 

 6 findings to the strategic plan, and specifically to the 

 7 implementation timeline. 

 8  One of the things that's really important is, we 

 9 may have a study that's ongoing but the findings may not 

10 necessarily correspond when we need them for strategic 

11 plan relevance.  So I think that was another consideration 

12 in terms of the criteria. 

13  The third one, which is also important, was what 

14 I call learning value.  To what extent could we actually 

15 learn and potentially have that information inform some 

16 current policy discussion.  Around us -- all around us in 

17 the work that we do, there's some policy discussions 

18 around the topics and the areas that we actually invest 

19 in.  So what was the opportunity to using information for 

20 that policy discussion and would that be of value to us. 

21 And the other one was to fill a unique gap in 

22 knowledge.  One of the things that's very clear to me from 

23 the work that I've done is that we -- I wish we had the 

24 answers to everything.  We're a long way away from that.  

25 There is large gaps of information with regards to 
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 1 children zero to five.  And I think we've done a really 

 2 incredible job of filling some of these gaps.  But there's 

 3 still gaps that exist.  So to what extent could we 

 4 actually fill gaps in knowledge.  So those are really the 

 5 criteria we used to do the assessment. 

 6  So this is just a really kind of a graph our 

 7 stages and the steps that we used. 

 8  And one thing about research here is that haven't 

 9 ever encountered anything we couldn't try to quantify.  So 

10 one of the things that we did is we created this scoring 

11 tool.  So based on the stages of implementation, we took 

12 the projects, we scored them, and then we looked at their 

13 relevance to the strategic plan and we developed 

14 recommendations for the future.  So they ended up in three 

15 major buckets.  I think if we use the term that was used 

16 in the last presentation, we have the bucket of, the 

17 project would end because it really didn't meet the 

18 criteria and didn't really allow us to learn for the 

19 future.  The other bucket was actually continuing the 

20 project as planned.  The other bucket was continuing with 

21 modifications.  And this one is a very critical one 

22 because this is an opportunity to actually adjust a 

23 research, evaluation, or data project to actually make it 

24 suit our needs for the strategic plan.  And I think that's 

25 a really important thing to point out. 
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 1  So the last step was to really look at that and 

 2 develop a budget and project recommendations. 

 3  As the board, you will see the results in two 

 4 ways:  One is that, as the commission gets contracts in 

 5 the consent calendar, you will hopefully see that those 

 6 projects have been reviewed through the process.  And the 

 7 second level is, as we're preparing budgets for the next 

 8 fiscal year, 15-16 fiscal year, the basis of that budget 

 9 was the assessment that we completed.  So I just wanted to 

10 highlight it as you see things coming from the future. 

11  So I don't want to necessarily talk about the 

12 projects per se, but I just wanted to say that these are 

13 the projects that landed in the bucket of -- these are 

14 examples of projects that landed in the bucket of 

15 continuous plan.  And one of the things that I wanted to 

16 highlight is that this is really the bulk of our work.  In 

17 fact, a large percentage of our work is perfectly relevant 

18 to the strategic plan.  In fact,  as we've been talking 

19 about the programmatic investments, our large investments 

20 in Welcome Baby and Best Start, are really for the 

21 strategic plan.  So corresponding to that some of our 

22 largest investments on the evaluation and research side 

23 relate to Welcome Baby, Best Start, and also some of the 

24 projects that support the ECE strategy. 

25  The second one are examples of projects that will 
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 1 continue with modifications.  And there are a couple I 

 2 wanted to highlight.  One is the workforce system 

 3 improvement evaluation.  And I wanted to say, this was an 

 4 opportunity for us because this was a  project that we had 

 5 yet to start.  So it was a project we had planned to start 

 6 this fiscal year.  But this is the opportunity for to us 

 7 look at the project with the lens of the strategic plan 

 8 versus the lens of, this is what First 5 accomplished, 

 9 this is what First 5 did.  It's really about looking at 

10 the projects, what is the landscape, how can we influence 

11 the landscape, what are the strategies that might help us 

12 influence the landscape as it relates to workforce systems 

13 around ECE.  So it's a really different look at this 

14 project. 

15  So this is an example of how we had an 

16 opportunity to make a change, make it relevant for the 

17 work that we're doing in the future, and actually -- and 

18 that's, I think, a project that you'll be seeing in the 

19 few months as we go through the contracting process. 

20 The other project I wanted to highlight was 

21 reducing early childhood obesity.  One of the things that 

22 -- as a consequence of our investments, the aggregated 

23 investments that we made as a commission to address early 

24 childhood overweight and obesity is approximately $65 

25 million.  That's a significant amount of money.  But one 
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 1 of the tings that was very clear to us in those 

 2 investments is many of them had an emphasis on system 

 3 improvement, capacity building, policy, and enhancements 

 4 of the build environment. 

 5  So here's an opportunity to learn and provide 

 6 influence to this particular problem which I think is a 

 7 problem that's not necessarily going to go away any time 

 8 soon.  The prevalence of children that are overweight at 

 9 age three or four still hovers around 25 percent.  So it's 

10 a significant number of children that are affected and 

11 potentially could have detrimental health outcomes as a 

12 result of it.  So one of the opportunities is to see to 

13 what extent can we really think about influencing systems, 

14 policies, provider training and capacity to enhance or 

15 ability to interact with them, and what kinds of thing 

16 could we see in the build environment that can actually 

17 facilitate that. 

18  The other thing about the early -- using early 

19 childhood obesity is one of the what I call unintended 

20 consequences of efforts to try to create built environment 

21 to get people out is the opportunity to create social 

22 connections.  One of the things that is fundamental to 

23 having communities that are open and people -- and 

24 accessible and people that are out and about is people get 

25 a chance to interact with each other. 
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 1  So this is an opportunity to really understand 

 2 the potential kind of unintended consequences from this 

 3 work.  So that was one of the reasons why we decided to 

 4 put stronger emphasis on evaluating those strategies as 

 5 opposed to the direct service components of it.  So that's 

 6 just a couple of those examples.  

 7 And the last one are the examples of the projects 

 8 that will end and require no additional investment or 

 9 staff support.  And I wanted to really kind of preface 

10 this by saying that all of the work that we do, all of the 

11 work we do has various levels of assessment or monitoring. 

12 We have monitoring that takes place at the program officer 

13 level and they monitor their program with regard to 

14 performance objectives.  All of the contractors and 

15 grantees submit data to us that allows us to understand 

16 the degree to which it's being implemented.  We have a 

17 process called getting better data that we actually get 

18 information from our grantees to be able to kind of look 

19 at the degree to which they're doing their work. 

20  So that exists and that will always exist.  What 

21 we're talking about is additional dollars that we put on 

22 to do evaluations that are much bigger, much more 

23 longitudinal or much more expansive.  So that's what I'm 

24 talking about when I'm talking about that kind of effort 

25 will not continue.  And these are a couple of the 
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 1 projects. 

 2  I wanted to point out the one that's here on the 

 3 permanent supportive housing, which is I think a really 

 4 important investment.  But one of the things that I wanted 

 5 to highlight is that they collect on their own really good 

 6 data.  In fact, ALACI has a system that has really kind of 

 7 improved over time around collecting outcomes around 

 8 participants of the programs that are supported and 

 9 actually the ability to use that data to look at some of 

10 this is there available.  In fact, It may not necessarily 

11 require additional investment on our part to be able to 

12 look at some of those outcomes.  So that's another reason 

13 why that's on here.  So these are just examples of some of 

14 the projects that kind of filtered into those buckets. 

15  So the last part of the discussion is just 

16 talking about implications, what does all this mean, what 

17 does this assessment mean.  Really, it's about freeing up 

18 some valuable resources, dollars that we have that we 

19 would have dedicated to evaluations that really have 

20 helped us learn anymore.  And we also wanted to make sure 

21 that, as I pointed out earlier that some of the projects 

22 that will be coming to you in the consent calendar and in 

23 the budget for the next fiscal year have gone through this 

24 assessment.  So we've looked at them and we said, well, 

25 let's make them better, let's learn more, let's see if we 
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 1 can use these projects to help us do better work. 

 2  The other thing is this pivot as an organization 

 3 really focusing on systems change and policy:  How can we 

 4 make that pivot in our evaluation work as well.  And the 

 5 other thing is that -- in the past, when we think about 

 6 evaluation, there's -- I always think about a scale.  And 

 7 on one side is the accountability scale and on the other 

 8 side is a learning scale.  And oftentimes, the best 

 9 practice is to do your best to try to have the equilibrium 

10 somewhere in the middle where your accountability is there 

11 but you also are going to be learning. 

12  One of the things I really feel strongly about 

13 moving forward with the type of work that we're going to 

14 be doing as an organization that I think the scale -- I 

15 really believe the scale should be tipped much more 

16 towards learning because really some of the strategies 

17 that we're going to be moving forward with provide us 

18 greater opportunities to learn.  And we're not in a 

19 position I think with a lot of the strategies to make a 

20 judgment about whether program was good or bad.  Usually 

21 that's the kind of emphasis of accountability.  You make a 

22 judgment or assessment of whether a program is good or 

23 bad.  With the learning, you ask the question, what are we 

24 learning by doing this, how will we advance in our work 

25 through these strategies, which strategies might be more 
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 1 critical for us to look at, how will we partners.  There's 

 2 different kinds of questions which really are learning 

 3 questions. 

 4  So the last part is really about creating a 

 5 higher priority for our research and data development. And 

 6 one of the things that we feel is important is to make 

 7 sure that the policy work is going to be significant 

 8 portion of our work moving forward is informed by good 

 9 research and data.  I think that one of the things that we 

10 always talk about and one of the things that some of our 

11 policy colleagues tell us is, oh, if we only had this kind 

12 of data, then our discussions with the applicant would be 

13 much more fruitful or legislators would be much more 

14 inclined to think about this particular legislation if we 

15 had that kind of data.  So I think the opportunity exists 

16 for us, as an organization, to enhance our work in 

17 research and data development to really be more policy 

18 relevant and to be connected to that work. 

19  So that's really the implications of our 

20 assessment.  And really the next steps are to, at the next 

21 commission meeting in -- in a few weeks, we will be 

22 introducing some guiding principles.  Actually, Steven's 

23 really been helpful with us thinking through some of these 

24 opportunities and how we're going to use this work to -- 

25 to move our organization into a learning organization.  
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 1 And that's not going to be an easy task.  It's not going 

 2 to happen overnight.  It's going to take us some time.  So 

 3 we're going to talk about a little bit of the foundational 

 4 steps for that in the commission meeting And we're going 

 5 to continue to refine our research and evaluation work.  

 6 We'll be presenting, have more opportunities to present 

 7 with the other staff and provide updates in the future. 

 8 So today really what we needed from you is just 

 9 -- there's no real action.  It's really just to keep you 

10 informed and to have you understand what we did, the 

11 process we used, and why it was important for us and for 

12 the organization to move forward, and maybe to get 

13 feedback on any gaps that you may see in the process or 

14 any considerations you may want us to look at, and to kind 

15 of understand what near term contracts are coming to you 

16 that really -- they've been filtered and they've been 

17 looked at and we want to be a better consumer of the 

18 projects that we actually -- we actually have. 

19  The last thing I wanted to share with you is just 

20 some learning from the process.  One of the things that 

21 I've learned from doing this process is that this process 

22 should be done routinely.  I think it's -- from the time 

23 that I started, I'm not sure if we've ever had an 

24 opportunity to stand back and ask ourselves, are we 

25 actually learning from the work that we're doing, are we 
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 1 actually asking the right questions, are the commissioners 

 2 actually getting the information that they need to make 

 3 the decisions that they make, are the stakeholders that 

 4 are involved in this learning from the process, are they 

 5 getting information back to that their work could be 

 6 better.  So we simply have been on this train with all of 

 7 these initiatives moving forward.  I haven't had a chance 

 8 to step back. 

 9  So one of the commitments I'm going to make is to 

10 routinely do an assessment of our work and ask us those 

11 questions to make sure we're on target, that we're 

12 learning and that we're adjusting and that we're, as an 

13 organization should, improving all the time.  So I'm -- 

14 I'm excited about the future work. 

15  One of the things I wanted to share with you is I 

16 spent Monday and Tuesday at -- I saw your husband.  He was 

17 -- we had a chance to talk.  But it was -- it was called 

18 Datafest II.  I know it sounds thrilling.  Datafest II.  

19 That's like Sharknado II.  But what was really -- what was 

20 really exciting is I think there has been a movement both 

21 at the federal level and at the state level of actually 

22 opening up their data.  It's an open data movement.  For 

23 those of us involved, we called liberate the data.  We see 

24 data behind the servers, little bars, let me free.  It's 

25 really an opportunity to really improve transparency with 
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 1 government, but also to try to allow us as organizations 

 2 that do service, provide service that support services to 

 3 really be more accountable to the folks that we provide 

 4 those services to and to allow them to have access to this 

 5 information. 

 6  It was really, really incredible.  I was really 

 7 excited because one of the things that's exciting about it 

 8 is, there's a really fantastic convergence of government 

 9 and entrepreneurs.  Entrepreneurs being folks from Silicon 

10 Valley who are the masterminds of technology, the 

11 technology we use every day that's ubiquitous everywhere, 

12 data that we probably do.  Every time we shop, every time 

13 we surf, every time we do something, data's being 

14 collected on that.  It's being used to predict what we 

15 might do in the future.  So I think that's one of the 

16 really exciting things about what they talked about, and 

17 I'm really thinking this organization should be a part of 

18 that discussion, and I really am excited about that in the 

19 future.  So I'm sorry. I got carried away. 

20  Questions, if there are any questions for the --

21 COMMISSIONER DENNIS:  Commissioners questions? 

22  Suzanne.  

23 COMMISSIONER BOSTWICK:  As always, I appreciate 

24 your presentations.  They're always very succinct, but 

25 they're enjoyable too.  So thank you. 
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 1  I really like the page that you have here on the 

 2 slide on criteria.  It really helps to show how you are 

 3 looking at these -- these projects with the critical eye. 

 4 I did have a question on the point of the stage 

 5 of project implementation.  You've get 40 different 

 6 projects that are going on at different times.  Some of 

 7 them are embedded in other projects.  I know that, once 

 8 you took your evaluation team and you embedded them into 

 9 Best Start communities, it made a difference because 

10 you're able to actually put some objectives and put some 

11 -- really put something behind what the work was -- you 

12 wanted to get the impact.  You wanted to find that out.  

13 And I think adding the evaluation team made a big 

14 difference. 

15  But we know that sometimes, when you have ongoing 

16 projects, funding cycles don't line up with when a project 

17 is supposed to end.  So in looking at the project 

18 implementation, did you also take into account what you've 

19 invested so far, are they able to complete what they 

20 started to be able to get to a point to either close this 

21 out or to come up with some data that can be useful in 

22 some way?  

23 MR. JIMENEZ:  Yes.  Yes.  In fact, that was a 

24 really important consideration because it would be -- I 

25 think it would be difficult for us to spend a significant 
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 1 amount of resources, time, energy, effort to collect data 

 2 and to simply stop and not have an opportunity to assess 

 3 it, analyze, and potentially see if there's any value in 

 4 that. 

 5  So when I talk about stage of implementation, 

 6 it's really related to, in those cases, it was important 

 7 to let those play out.  

 8 COMMISSIONER BOSTWICK:  The other thing is, 

 9 you're talking about learning, and I'm really glad you 

10 brought that up because I'd like to be able to hear what 

11 you want to be -- what you're going to be doing with the 

12 data or briefs that were developed as a part of your 

13 projects.  How are you going to disseminate them?  How is 

14 the board going to hear about them?  How are we going to 

15 use that to actually learn from the data?  

16 MR. JIMENEZ:  One of the things that I really 

17 thing that has happened recently with the P and P meetings 

18 and to some extent the commission meetings is an 

19 opportunity to present jointly with the program staff.  I 

20 really think that a couple of the presentations have been 

21 -- I think the kinds of engagement and questions from the 

22 commission has been invaluable because we had an 

23 opportunity to say, this was a finding and this was a 

24 programmatic implication, and this is what we did.  So I 

25 -- I really think that that's, for us, one of the more 
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 1 effective ways of engaging and bringing results to the 

 2 commission. 

 3  In terms of additional dissemination, I think one 

 4 of the things we have to work on -- and I'll say that we 

 5 have to work on -- is how to close that feedback loop with 

 6 communities that are a part of the process.  I think that 

 7 one of the lessons that I know really looked deeply into 

 8 it is the work that's going on with Best Start because the 

 9 evaluation is so close to the process.  And to learn 

10 lessons from that work and to see how can we do a better 

11 job of closing that feedback loop.  I have to say that's 

12 been one of the challenges that our feedback loop has been 

13 either disrupted or not fully closed at all.  And I do -- 

14 am sensitive to some individuals who come to us and say, 

15 hey, you said you were going to bring that information to 

16 us.  And I actually feel really awful because I did say 

17 that and we didn't do that.  

18 COMMISSIONER BOSTWICK:  Right.  That's really 

19 good.  I just don't like to hear, there's reports that are 

20 due or audits that are due, you know, you check, did it, 

21 did it, did it, stick it in a file, and then it's 

22 forgotten.  Thanks.  

23 COMMISSIONER DENNIS:  Anybody else?  Joe and then 

24 Judy.  

25 COMMISSIONER YBARRA:  Armando, just briefly, you 
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 1 were talking about some projects that are closing.  And I 

 2 understand the need to conserve resources of time and 

 3 money.  But the question is, could we possibly learn maybe 

 4 by sending out a survey, maybe not do an entire study, but 

 5 send out a survey to those projects that are closing to 

 6 learn what could we have done differently or how could we 

 7 have helped you and get any feedback?  Usually, in a case 

 8 like that, you might get a lot of negative feedback.  I'm 

 9 just guessing maybe.  But just something for us to 

10 consider that could help us in the future.  

11 MR. JIMENEZ:  I think that's a really important 

12 part of the process which has been missing, is that our 

13 ability to assess kind of how we work with others, not 

14 just in evaluation but all of the work that we do.  And I 

15 think that that is something that we're really focusing on 

16 as a part of what we're going to do in the future.  I 

17 really appreciate that comment because I think that's 

18 something we should be doing more often.  So, yeah, I 

19 totally agree.  

20 COMMISSIONER DENNIS:  Thank you, Joe. 

21  Judy.  

22 COMMISSIONER ABDO:  It seems to me that much of 

23 what the work has been all along has been to try and sort 

24 of encourage a culture change in the county so that people 

25 know what the importance of -- of zero to five is in a 
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 1 person's life.  And -- so I -- I'm hearing the evaluation 

 2 very much focused on First 5 and what it does and the 

 3 First 5 grantees and what they do, but I'm wondering is 

 4 there a way to look at beyond that, what is -- what has 

 5 changed in the -- in the culture of the county.  And -- 

 6 and I guess when I say culture of the county, I mean the 

 7 county's employees and services, but I also mean just 

 8 people who live in the county and have no connection 

 9 otherwise.  

10 MS. BELSHE:  Right.

11 COMMISSIONER ABDO:  How over the years, since the 

12 initiative passed, has there been a culture change.  And I 

13 don't know the answer to that, but what I do know is that 

14 when I say I'm involved with First 5 now or I'm now on the 

15 First 5 commission, most people say, what is that?  And so 

16 to me, that -- every time somebody says that, I of course 

17 take the opportunity to explain what it is and how 

18 important the work we're doing is.  But it seems to me 

19 that that step needs to be taken as -- and that the 

20 strategic is really about that.  

21 MS. BELSHE:  Yeah.  That's a good point.

22 COMMISSIONER ABDO:  I wanted to push that 

23 evaluation a little further out.

24 MR. JIMENEZ:  If I go back to this one.  There's 

25 a project here that's called the countywide systems 
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 1 improvement evaluation.  And in a sense -- we're ending it 

 2 this fiscal year, but in a sense what we're doing is 

 3 asking those questions:  What has changed in terms of 

 4 landscape and we're actually having discussions with key 

 5 stakeholders and asking the question, what looks different 

 6 now. 

 7  So in some sense it may be an opportunity to 

 8 provide some baseline information for how we might go into 

 9 the future.  And our hope is that, you know, county 

10 systems are much more aware of not only just the First 5 

11 LA but our concepts around parental support, protective 

12 factors, you know resiliency, how they can work within a 

13 setting to deal with trauma-informed care, all of the 

14 concepts that we're trying to move forward to go back and 

15 ask that same question.  I didn't go into detail, but in  

16 a sense that countywide systems improvement evaluation is 

17 about that. 

18  The thing that we haven't done to the degree that 

19 I think we could is population, asking people who are just 

20 members of the population whether they are familiar with 

21 our work.  We've included a few questions in the LA Health 

22 survey in the past and it was more around specific 

23 initiatives as opposed to general concepts.

24 MS. BELSHE:  Although, I would remind 

25 commissioners and share with Judy as a new commissioner 
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 1 that, as a part of listening, learning, and leading effort 

 2 in 2013, there was a brand survey that our public affairs 

 3 department had already begun in partnership with our 

 4 contractor, Edelman, which we reported out to the board.  

 5 And we can pass that along to you.  Because it provides 

 6 some really good data on awareness broadly as well as 

 7 among specific types of stakeholders about First 5 LA, 

 8 about the importance of the early years.  And so we do 

 9 have some baseline, but I don't know if we would call that 

10 a rigorous evaluation.  It's much more qualitative.  But 

11 we are using that to inform our thinking about what the 

12 public will building campaign might look like going 

13 forward because that's really what you're talking about.

14 COMMISSIONER ABDO:  Yes.  I'm talking about, do 

15 people understand the brand development that goes on in 

16 the first five years.  If people are just looking at kids 

17 and thinking, oh, well, you know, they're doing their 

18 thing, well they're learning every single second of the 

19 day.  And I'd say most people don't factor that in to, 

20 well, the first three years, that's -- that's the most 

21 learning they're ever going to do year by year by year.  

22 And if you do know that, if you're a county support person 

23 a service provider and you know that, you might interact a 

24 with a three-year old in a really different way than you 

25 interact normal.  
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 1 MS. BELSHE:  So one of the things we'll be coming 

 2 back to our commission with and probably P and P before 

 3 the full commission is some of our best thinking about 

 4 communications because this is a research question to the 

 5 extent research can help undergird our general 

 6 understanding of the landscape.  But we want to come back 

 7 with some recommended strategies around really baseline 

 8 messaging.  Communications will help advance our specific 

 9 outcomes, but there's some overarching communications goal 

10 that we are developing and, you know, we're -- we're 

11 close, we hope, to having a new communications director 

12 who we really want to help shape and lead that.  So you're 

13 touching on something we will be coming back to you on.  

14 COMMISSIONER DENNIS:  Nancy, then Deanne, and 

15 then Trish, then Duane.  

16 MS. BELSHE:  And then we move on.  

17 COMMISSIONER DENNIS:  Nancy.  

18 COMMISSIONER AU:  As I'm listening to this, I'm 

19 recalling again as -- the problem theme in this commission 

20 for a while, is that you have so much history.  But I 

21 remember one of the tension points that we had in previous 

22 years was how much effort and resources we would put in 

23 terms of what was couched as promotional information about 

24 First 5 LA and how it's connected to the tobacco tax 

25 initiatives, and there was some strong -- I should say --
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 1 MS. NUNO:  Resistance.

 2 COMMISSIONER YBARRA:  Right -- resistance to even 

 3 putting resources there because they felt that that was 

 4 not really in keeping with the mission and the thrust of 

 5 the work of First 5 LA.  But I'm hearing also is that 

 6 maybe there is a need for us to revisit this because I 

 7 think the general public, even though we may do what Judy 

 8 is concerned about, is that we're really about wanting to 

 9 transmit a number of messaging around what we've become 

10 very aware of in terms of the child's development in the 

11 first three years and the importance of parents and 

12 support in order to make that up -- that optimum thing. 

13 There's still this notion of, well, what is that all about 

14 in terms of we as a public and we as a taxpayer, what role 

15 do we play in terms of this -- this information that's 

16 coming out.  I think we need to really tie the two 

17 together because I think then there would be more of a 

18 resonance if the public felt that, wow, you know, this is 

19 what my dollars are really supporting, that we're getting 

20 something from this and that it's a real what you would 

21 call shift in terms of cultural perspective.  So that's 

22 the comment I thought I'd just raise.  

23 COMMISSIONER DENNIS:  Deanne.  

24 COMMISSIONER TILTON:  I sort of want to tag onto 

25 what Judy said in a specific way, and that is my thinking 
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 1 is that we've been flooded in some ways with information 

 2 now about the importance of the first few years.  The A 

 3 study and Dr. Perry and all of that.  And so part of -- 

 4 part of our mandate I think is to make sure that stays out 

 5 there in terms of people's understanding.  But it also 

 6 sort of infiltrates so many other things that we do. 

 7  And I know this is something Judy is concerned 

 8 about, as am I.  Let's say domestic violence.  If there's 

 9 domestic violence, that's a law enforcement issue, that's 

10 a violence, criminal justice issue, but what about the 

11 two-year old in the home who's listening to this day after 

12 day?  What is it doing to the developmental capabilities 

13 of that two-year old, that baby or whatever.  It's 

14 certainly child abuse we look at the growing number of 

15 very young children who are seriously hurt.  And then when 

16 we make decisions about their future, are we thinking 

17 about the fact that their development is so profoundly 

18 affected during those first few years?  I don't know.  You 

19 just remind me of that. 

20  But back to the kind of thing that we were 

21 talking about in terms of the outcomes and the 

22 understanding of the impact of what we do, I think it 

23 would be really helpful -- and we're kind of talking 

24 around it a bit, but I think it would be good to know for 

25 each of our projects -- maybe ask the projects or somehow 
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 1 come into a partnership with them -- what was the benefit 

 2 of this, what was the outcome.  Because I think we have 

 3 projects where people don't know.  I'll give an example of 

 4 one that is very close to and that's the Safe Sleep 

 5 Project.  I don't think commissioners know that we've 

 6 reduced unsafe sleeping deaths of infants by 50 percent.  

 7 I mean, we came down from 70 a year to 34 in the year 

 8 following the campaign.  That makes me feel really good 

 9 about the work that we did on that on that.  We worked 

10 really hard on that.  That was funded by First 5.  It 

11 wouldn't have been effective without the support of First 

12 5.  And the same with, you know, our partnerships project 

13 that was picked up by DCFS.  Look at the drop in the 

14 numbers of serious and fatal abuse. 

15  And I think that it would probably work best if 

16 we asked those projects to tell us because they know best.  

17 I mean, we can look at data and we can compare that to the 

18 rhetoric, but the fact of the matter is that I think it 

19 would help people like Judy and everybody else when people 

20 say, where is -- you got how many hundred million dollars 

21 and what difference did it make?  Well, we reduced unsafe 

22 -- you know, we cut down child abuse, we changed policy 

23 not directly but indirectly in law enforcement because 

24 now, if they go out to a home of domestic violence and 

25 there's a very small child there, it makes a difference.  
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 1 They pay more attention to that and that child has a 

 2 better chance of being rescued from the damage.  So that 

 3 was --

 4 COMMISSIONER DENNIS:  Trish.  

 5 COMMISSIONER CURRY:  So I was listening to what 

 6 Judy was saying and I was also wondering what our role is 

 7 in terms of educating the public, educating county 

 8 departments, and educating people on the commission about 

 9 information about kids zero to five because I know that in 

10 the last couple of years there's been a lot of research 

11 done and a lot of reports that have come out.  And there 

12 are times when -- you know, we'll be back there before a 

13 meeting maybe talking, and I'll ask somebody if they have 

14 seen a particular report and they haven't.  And so I 

15 wonder if we're, you know, all keeping up, because there's 

16 so much we all have to do every day and there's so much 

17 information coming out in the last few years on zero to 

18 five.  Are we all up on that information and are we making 

19 decisions when we're voting about things based on some new 

20 research and information that's out there. 

21  And, likewise, when we're working with other -- 

22 with county departments -- and one of the things that I 

23 found -- and I'm not knocking anybody, but DCFS or mental 

24 health, you know, mental health had all of these meetings 

25 to determine how the RMHSA dollars would be spent.  And I 
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 1 found that in some of those meetings where they're making 

 2 decisions again, you know, our commission would bring up 

 3 some of the reports about trauma and different things and 

 4 so advocating for different services for the kids.  And 

 5 yet the people that -- at mental health that were running 

 6 these meetings hadn't seen those reports and weren't aware 

 7 of the data.

 8 MS. BELSHE:  If I might because I think we're -- 

 9 this is great to hear where some of the energy of the 

10 commission is.  We're really broadening the conversation 

11 beyond where -- where we are.  So if I can just offer -- 

12 I'm hearing three different strands of activity:  One is 

13 -- or questions.  Number one, are we doing enough to 

14 disseminate learning about our own work.  So that's one 

15 question.  And even though we may fund dozens and dozens 

16 of projects, we still are just one piece of a broader 

17 ecosystem as we say.  But first is, are we getting the 

18 word out about learning associated with all of our 

19 discrete projects. 

20  Number two is -- and I'm so glad Steven's here 

21 because this is a really part of a broader monitoring, 

22 evaluation, and learning effort which, as Armando noted, 

23 we're really broadening the frame for how we think about 

24 research and evaluation beyond specific projects to really 

25 being a learning organization. 
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 1  So Number one is dissemination about our own -- 

 2 learning about our own projects, but number two is drawing 

 3 attention to the field to new research that others have 

 4 done to new learning.  That's important for our staff.  

 5 It's important for the commission.  It's important for the 

 6 community broadly. 

 7  And then this third issues which I'm hearing, 

 8 which is what I would characterize what Judy is raising 

 9 is, really are there things that we as an organization 

10 should be doing that's more proactively building public 

11 understanding, of building public will, contributing to 

12 more ownership for taking action.  And I put that more in 

13 a public strategic communications and public will building 

14 campaign. 

15  So that's -- I'm hearing three related but 

16 distinct strands in commissioners' comments, all of which 

17 are enormously relevant and important, but Armando's piece 

18 is probably the first two and communications is the third.  

19 COMMISSIONER DENNIS:  Okay.  I just want to say a 

20 couple of things.  Number one, thank you for the 

21 refinement.  I think it's -- we've gone a long way as far 

22 as our research thread over the past, you know, five years 

23 or so.  So that's great. 

24  But another thing, a comment regarding the 

25 research piece and how we would look at -- you know, it's 
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 1 very hard to get research partners if you're looking at a 

 2 discrete school readiness project, for example, in 

 3 Pacoima.  However, it's a lot easier if you're looking at 

 4 systems change around, you know, family strengths in 

 5 Pacoima.  And there are a lot of people who are doing that 

 6 from the research perspective.  So I would suggest that we 

 7 look at research partners as we're dealing -- as we are 

 8 dealing with some of these systems issues and some of 

 9 these, you know, systems integration, systems change.  

10 There are a lot of folks locally and nationally who are 

11 doing it.  So we don't have to do this by ourselves, I 

12 mean, there are other folks who -- with skin in the game.  

13 Like the Urban Institute does a lot of this same type of 

14 work.  So I would suggest that as we change and refine our 

15 research methodology, we also look at our partners.  

16 And then I have a question, and I'm not sure if 

17 it's for Steven and Jessica later or with you now because 

18 it is tied -- you know, it's the nexus between what I 

19 believe is research and strategy.  And that is, as we're 

20 looking at implementation, obviously, we would need to 

21 look at indicators of success:  How do we know we are 

22 being successful?  Where are the performance measures.  

23 And I would think that it would be relationship between 

24 research and program in thinking about that. 

25  So as we're looking at the activities related to 
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 1 our strategic plan, we're looking at how we're successful, 

 2 what are the indices and when we know we need to make 

 3 another turn or something like that.  And I don't know 

 4 who's going to -- I don't know if --

 5 MS. BELSHE:  That's going to be part of the -- 

 6 we'll be coming back to the full commission at the April 

 7 meeting.

 8 MR. JIMENEZ:  You stole our future thunder.

 9 MR. LAFRANCE:  And I'll just comment very quickly 

10 that the answer in part lies in, I think, some of the 

11 hints Armando is giving at with respect to the future 

12 looking a lot more integrated across program and research 

13 and evaluation.  And so, yes, we will be -- we are working 

14 in partnership, but it's not just LFA and the strategic 

15 planning team with R and E; it's all of the folks involved 

16 in the strategy development work groups too.  

17 COMMISSIONER DENNIS:  Okay.  So that's the 

18 question.  And I -- I will suspect that that would be 

19 answered over the next few months --  

20 MR. LAFRANCE:  That's right.

21 COMMISSIONER DENNIS:  -- as we look at the 

22 implementation of our strategic plan. 

23  Thank you, Armando.  Thank you, commissioners.  

24 Now we can go on to the next agenda item.    

25 MS. BELSHE:  All righty.  We're turning to 
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 1 Jessica K and LFA.  Rafael.  

 2 MS. KACZMAREK:  Good afternoon, commissioners.  

 3 Steven and I are here to share with you information about 

 4 the work that we've been undertaking since the plan was 

 5 passed in November.  Providing you with an overview of the 

 6 purpose and the process we've been using to refine the 

 7 strategies and the activities that were approved in -- 

 8 with the strategic plan.  And we are going to be sharing 

 9 with you information about some of the key learning, the 

10 findings that we've identified to date, and providing you 

11 with an update on where we're going and what we will be 

12 bringing to you in the next couple of months culminating 

13 in the approval of the 15-16 -- fiscal year 15-16 year 

14 project. 

15  Because of my cold, I am keeping my comments 

16 brief.  Steven will be doing the presentation.  But I'm 

17 happy to -- help answer any questions you may have 

18 afterwards.  So Steven.

19 MR. LAFRANCE:  Thank you, Jessica, for the 

20 introduction.  Good afternoon, commissioners, staff, 

21 members of the public.  It's great to be back.  I missed 

22 you all. 

23  I will reassure you though that staff have been 

24 keeping our mutual relationship burning bright and we've 

25 been hard at work together to continue the process of 
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 1 refining the strategies and also to develop the 

 2 monitoring, evaluation, and learning framework.  But today 

 3 we're going to focus on the strategy refinement process.  

 4 I wanted to start with sharing some comments about our 

 5 fundamental purpose in the strategy refinement work. 

 6 First and foremost and as Jessica indicated, 

 7 we're really outlining the work that will be required to 

 8 implement the plan over the five-year period.  We're 

 9 looking to -- by doing that, we're looking to inform how 

10 we use the full range of First 5 LA's resources from time, 

11 talent, and funds to support successful implementation of 

12 the plan.  And in doing so, because the focus of the plan 

13 represents such a significant shift in First 5 LA's focus 

14 -- shift in focus but also greater focus, the work of 

15 refining the strategy is also becoming an anchor point and 

16 a driver for larger organizational transformation work.  

17 And I'll say a little bit more about what we're learning 

18 there, but it has been an exciting and dynamic time to be 

19 involved in First 5 LA.  Talking about strategy refinement 

20 has -- as I said, required us to challenge assumptions 

21 about how the organization has been doing its work and how 

22 the work may look moving forward to best implement on the 

23 strategy approved. 

24  I want to underscore before I move on that, 

25 underlying all of these purposes has been a goal to 
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 1 continue to narrow and focus.  And, you know, we -- we are 

 2 looking at the work, of course, through the lens of what 

 3 needs to be implemented to make progress on the outcomes 

 4 approved in the plan within the areas of focus the 

 5 commission defined, but doing so also through the lens of 

 6 feasibility and not sacrificing depth of impact for 

 7 breadth of activity.  And really looking deeply at the 

 8 question of how we can look in an integrated way at all 

 9 the work that First 5 LA is doing so that there can be 

10 synergistic synergies and hopefully synergistic affects in 

11 implementing a program that may be focused on home 

12 visiting, but we know that First 5 LA has so many other 

13 goals it wants to achieve with respect to knowledge of 

14 quality of early childhood care and education, health, et 

15 cetera, how do we achieve as many outcomes as possible 

16 with the areas of focus for the work that are being 

17 elaborated in the plan. 

18  So with that, we have designed a structure for 

19 refining the strategies and specifying kind of what the 

20 work's going to look like.  And there are basically two 

21 components to that structure.  I would essentially 

22 characterize them as one being kind of the vertical depth 

23 of work and then the horizontal integrating work.  So we 

24 have four outcome specific work groups.  They are 

25 detailing the work within each outcome area.  They're the 
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 1 same work groups that began to define strategy during the 

 2 planning process.  They've continued their work.  Again, 

 3 they're the kind of vertical, deep-dive folks in the 

 4 outcome areas. 

 5  But to insure that we're also achieving the 

 6 integration of work across the outcome areas, we've 

 7 developed the cleverly named Strategy Integration Team.  

 8 The SIT is composed of the leads of the outcome focused 

 9 area work groups, the strategic planning team, members of 

10 the executive team, policy, communications, research and 

11 evaluation, and the LFA consulting team.  So we are by 

12 virtue of the composition of the team and that process 

13 itself working in a different way to define how the work 

14 is going to look and how we can operate fluidly across 

15 areas to achieve the greatest impact for children and 

16 families. 

17  So there are a couple of key questions that each 

18 of these groups are addressing.  And, of course, they 

19 correspond to how they're set up.  So for the work groups 

20 that are focused specifically on the four outcome areas, 

21 they're looking at the question of what work is required 

22 to implement the strategies.  What are our objectives, the 

23 anchor activities, key tasks, timeline, and cost.  In the 

24 near term, as Jessica indicated, a very concrete result 

25 would be a budget proposal for 15-16.  But beyond that, we 
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 1 are also establishing longer term objectives.  And I'll 

 2 share more about that in a moment.  Then importantly, who 

 3 are the partners key to implementing our work.  As we've 

 4 had conversations about what we're calling the points of 

 5 integration across the work in the different outcome 

 6 areas, one of the places we started was, well, who are the 

 7 people who we would be working with to get this work done 

 8 and where are they essentially the same, you know, 

 9 stakeholder groups if not individuals, and what does that 

10 mean for how we structure the work and approach the 

11 conversations with them so that, you know, we are, first 

12 of all, living that value articulated in the plan of 

13 working in partnership in all that you do, but also doing 

14 so as wisely and efficiently as you can to help the 

15 partners you engage bring as much as they can to the table 

16 and participate as fully in the shared agenda that you'll 

17 be working with them to establish. 

18  For the strategy integration team, the kind of 

19 horizontal integration across the outcome areas, 

20 logically, we're talking about questions of how to 

21 integrate the work, but also how do we sequence and 

22 coordinate the work.  I mention that in specific reference 

23 to work with external partners, but also internally; how 

24 does sequencing and coordination of the work look, 

25 coordination with key partners. 

 45



 1  I mentioned implications for the 15-16 budget.  

 2 This is really the question regarding where do we start.  

 3 It -- it has been a, you know, process of going back and 

 4 forth between, how do we define the body of work over a 

 5 five-year period so we have a sense of what it will look 

 6 like in its scope, and then kind of toggling from that 

 7 larger perspective to, okay, and if we stay there for too 

 8 long, we're going to be completely overwhelmed and 

 9 paralyzed by the, you know, questions of contingency and 

10 the unknown and what's within and outside of our control. 

11 And so to not get stuck there, we've also been 

12 coming back to the question of, okay, and given what we 

13 know today and knowing we're not going to know everything 

14 today, where can we start, what are the starting points 

15 that we can plan and budget for and get the work launched. 

16 And then how does the work inform a comprehensive policy, 

17 communication, and evaluation learning set of agendas.  

18 I actually think the conversation we had in 

19 response to Armando's presentation surfaces the 

20 commission's interest in thinking about those 

21 comprehensive agendas as well And how to think about the 

22 ways that policy, communications and research and 

23 evaluation support implementation of the strategy. 

24  I'll also say, as with the work in looking at the 

25 -- what's been laid out today to achieve progress in the 
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 1 outcome areas, when you start looking at the bodies of 

 2 work that are starting to line up within policy, within 

 3 communications, within research and evaluation, we're also 

 4 confronted with the reality of what is going to be 

 5 feasible.  So this whole notion of narrowing, focusing, 

 6 and making tough strategic choices has applied both for 

 7 the work group efforts that are focused on the outcomes 

 8 and where they're saying, we need to draw on policy, we 

 9 need to draw on communications.  We just yesterday also 

10 began to put together what is now amassing as bodies of 

11 work for those areas for those functions in the 

12 organization and are appreciating the expansiveness of it. 

13 So it's really to foreshadow -- well, two things:  

14 One, to articulate part of the work we're doing, but also 

15 to foreshadow that, as has been the case for this entire 

16 process with you all, we'll be coming back with staff's 

17 thinking and recommendations about balancing the tension 

18 between making as much impact as possible and doing so 

19 within the constraints of time, resource, and capacity. 

20 So what have we achieved to date?  I referenced 

21 objectives earlier.  We felt and found with -- in 

22 conversation with the work groups, it was important to 

23 identify three kind of milestone timeframes for 

24 objectives.  We used the smart objective framework, the 

25 specific measurable achievable, realistic timeline, et 
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 1 cetera.  But we started with the ten-year objective.  It's 

 2 beyond the strategic plan period, but if you're looking at 

 3 systems and policy change and to have an anchor point that 

 4 is, you know, visionary but not so far out it's not going 

 5 to be within our lifetime so to speak -- not that any of 

 6 us has a ten-year horizon on our life spans -- but just to 

 7 set a farther out visionary timeframe, we set ten-year 

 8 objectives, then five year at end of the strategy period, 

 9 and then one year to say, what do we want to get done in 

10 the immediate. 

11  We revised what we've called the anchor 

12 activities.  You'll recall those were defined in the 

13 strategic plan.  We also said at the time we needed to 

14 revise and refine them.  I would say primarily the lens 

15 for doing so has been, you know, among other things, but 

16 primarily focusing on the question of First 5 LA's role, 

17 what's the highest value First 5 LA can add and where is 

18 the -- I mean, I'll use the metaphor we used in the 

19 planning process, where is it at a thumb print and we have 

20 a primary role, where is it kind of a pinky touch.  It's 

21 more of adding spice or kind of, you know, secondary or 

22 even tertiary, but important nonetheless. 

23  We've drafted theories of change for the outcome 

24 specific work.  Those are very much a reflection in this 

25 moment of where the strategy refinement is, which is to 
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 1 say refined but still needing to be refined, but deciding 

 2 to have those drafted.  I will also add that, since 

 3 developing the PowerPoint, we also have drafted an 

 4 integrated theory of change.  So how does First 5 LA's, 

 5 the approaches that you use to create change, the outcomes 

 6 you're trying to achieve, how do they relate to each other 

 7 and, you know, work with and through both the partners 

 8 that you intend to achieve impact with but also the kind 

 9 of actors and stakeholders that you hope to affect change 

10 on, how -- will you be working with them, what will the 

11 result be on the other end in an integrated way. 

12  Lastly, I've stated this but will put a point on 

13 it.  The work to date is modeling this cross-functional, 

14 interdependent way of working and it is a great example of 

15 where the work is the process and the process is the work.  

16 And if we are enjoying a lot of successes in working in 

17 new ways together and we're feeling the growing pains and 

18 the point points of toggling again back and forth between 

19 default modes of operating and breakthroughs to new ways 

20 of operating, it's a function of organizational change.  

21 But it's -- but it's been exciting to be a part of. 

22  We mentioned we wanted to share some learning as 

23 we have.  TMO stands for transformation management office.  

24 We've found that strategy foundation has been a helpful 

25 foundational element to grounding and framing and thinking 
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 1 about the overall transformation work.  We've learned a 

 2 lot about the need for sequencing the work across 

 3 outcomes.  You know, as they say, sometimes necessity is 

 4 the mother of invention.  And we do need at this point to 

 5 put together the 15-16 budget.  And so the question of 

 6 what comes first and where are our starting points is 

 7 frankly, hopefully, pressing upon us.  And it's not just 

 8 -- we're not just doing the sequencing work as a function 

 9 of budgeting.  We're also doing it as a means of get ahead 

10 of where we know some of the work takes time.  It takes 

11 cultivating relationships.  We're talking about where do 

12 we need to get that work going if we know that in two or 

13 three years, we want to be at a particular point. 

14  The importance of initiating the work in the 

15 context of limited and imperfect information, a mantra 

16 that we've been invoking of late has been to not let the 

17 perfect be the enemy of the good.  I was reminded of this 

18 in my work with other strategic grantmaking organizations, 

19 some of which are considered -- you know, they're touted 

20 as among the most strategic in the country.  After their  

21 multiyear planning processes, their staff are still 

22 talking about how their strategy refinement is emergent 

23 and they make choices based on what they know today, move 

24 forward, learn from that set of choices, and move forward 

25 from there.  And I think we're encouraging each other to 
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 1 embrace comfort with some level of ambiguity without 

 2 letting ourselves off the hook for being disciplined about 

 3 bringing information, data, and judgment into the process. 

 4 We're learning a lot about emerging cross-cutting 

 5 areas such as I R and R, information resource and referral 

 6 and parent engagement, how we can most effectively, 

 7 frankly, kind of integrate, consolidate, and be as 

 8 thoughtful as possible about the tools of information, 

 9 resource, and referral, the tool of parent engagement to 

10 make as great a difference countywide as possible and 

11 advance as many outcomes for First 5 LA as possible.  And 

12 then I've spoken a bit as well to the role of 

13 partnerships.  You know, we've talked a lot about, well, 

14 there's a body of work in policy, a body of work in 

15 communications, a body of work in research and evaluation.  

16 In our conversation just yesterday with the strategy 

17 integration team, folks said, you know, we should probably 

18 also talk about the body of work in relationship building.  

19 And I thought that was an interesting comment on I think 

20 staff ownership of the principle of the importance of 

21 working in partnership that is articulated in the current 

22 plan.  

23 Just to then highlight some next steps as to 

24 where we're going before entertaining questions and 

25 comments from the commission.  We'll come back at the 
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 1 April 30th program and planning committee meeting to share 

 2 the anchor activities by strategy within the outcome 

 3 areas.  We will present at the May 14th meeting those 

 4 anchor activities as well, including key tasks and costs 

 5 for year one.  At the June 11th board meeting, we will be 

 6 seeking approval of the 15-16 budget and the year one 

 7 strategic plan investments.  So that is essentially an 

 8 overview of where we've been in the refinement process.  

 9 Of course, there is a binder full of detail that is 

10 beneath all that I've just shared at a high level but 

11 happy to answer any questions commissioners may have or 

12 hear any comments you may have of guidance as we continue 

13 on in this work.  

14 COMMISSIONER DENNIS:  Questions?  Deanne.

15 COMMISSIONER TILTON:  Basic question.  Who is in 

16 the work groups and who are the strategic integration 

17 teams members?  

18 MR. LAFRANCE:  Those -- I'm thinking the best way 

19 to share that with commissioners -- is that something we 

20 can disseminate or that a -- rattle off the top of the 

21 head?  

22 MS. BELSHE:  -- introduced many times, Barbara 

23 Dubranski's leading the families outcome areas.  

24 Antoinette Andrews is leading communities.  Katie Falon, 

25 our assistant director of R and E is leading early care 
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 1 and education.  And Rena John is leading health related 

 2 systems integration.  And each of them are leading 

 3 cross-organizational teams so we can certainly provide 

 4 that information.  And I think Jessica or Steve noted that 

 5 the strategy integration team is made up of leadership -- 

 6 those four outcome leads as well as leadership of 

 7 communications, policy, and research and evaluation.

 8 MR. LAFRANCE:  And the exec.

 9 MS. BELSHE:  And exec.  So we absolutely can 

10 share that with -- 

11 MR. LAFRANCE:  They're all staff teams.  They're 

12 not --

13 COMMISSIONER DENNIS:  These were the same teams, 

14 Deanne, that we had when we did the outcome work.  These 

15 are the same folks who led those teams when we were going 

16 through the strategic plan.  

17 COMMISSIONER TILTON:  I just wondered if you 

18 brought anybody from outside.

19 MS. KACZMAREK:  Just to add to that, staff 

20 engaging in the work groups have been talking to external 

21 stakeholders about the work that we identified in the 

22 strategic plan and understanding, you know, better the 

23 context of LA county and what is feasible.  So they are 

24 the --

25 MR. LAFRANCE:  That's right, yeah.  
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 1 COMMISSIONER DENNIS:  Suzanne.

 2 COMMISSIONER BOSTWICK:  I'm really glad that one 

 3 of the things that the staff brought up was talking about 

 4 relationship building because I think that's really 

 5 important and really critical.  And I think part of that 

 6 is also messaging.  And when you want to bring in partners 

 7 -- partners key to implementing and key partners, so all 

 8 these partners that are key, how to get them to engage, 

 9 how to get the community involved, what is the message if 

10 you want community advocates involved, who -- who is it 

11 and how are you messaging out to them. 

12  I know that there's a lot of work that's still 

13 going on out there, but to be frank, I -- I've seen fewer 

14 community members coming to some of the meetings and I 

15 don't know if it's -- if it's because of funding issues.  

16 But how do you get people to participate when there's not 

17 a dollar sign behind it?  How do you get people to 

18 participate and really join in to give them feedback when 

19 you're reaching out to their heart and soul to try to get 

20 their knowledge, to try to really get something back from 

21 them. 

22  And so I would just be really interested to hear 

23 about, again, the messaging and how you might be creating 

24 a message to the public which may be different than the 

25 message that you're giving to your routine advocates that 
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 1 are always there at your door.  

 2 MS. KACZMAREK:  So staff has been engaging with 

 3 stakeholders, but we I think do need to -- at the end of 

 4 the strategic plan period, we did some community meetings 

 5 and really went out into the community to share where we 

 6 were going with the strategic plan.  And, you know, we 

 7 have talked about the need to do that again and help -- 

 8 have that engagement help inform where we are going with 

 9 some of our work.  So it is definitely on our radar.

10 MS. BELSHE:  I note this is -- you know, we all 

11 lie awake at night issues.  I generally sleep very well.  

12 But one of my lie awake at night issues is what you're 

13 touching on in terms of I think we have some done some 

14 good initial work, but I think we have more work to be 

15 done to proactively and intentionally get out into 

16 communities to talk on a one-on-one basis or small group 

17 basis, both being out in the community and inviting others 

18 in to engage very directly about the new strategic plan.  

19 And not like as a sales job, but just say, you know, we're 

20 evolving and it's building upon, as Jessica noted, the 

21 broader community meetings we had.  But it does require us 

22 to invest some pretty senior level resources, frankly, to 

23 do some of these.  So that's something that we've been 

24 kind of thinking about internally about how do we do more 

25 proactively around our plan so people -- you know, the 
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 1 boards's provided direction.  So it's not to revisit the 

 2 plan.  It's to help them understand why choices were made 

 3 that were made and kind of where we ar and opportunities 

 4 for input partnership.  And it's not always going to be 

 5 dollar signs; you're right.  But there's a lot of 

 6 knowledge and wisdom in the community that can really 

 7 benefit what we're doing.

 8 COMMISSIONER DENNIS:  Anyone else?  Judy.  

 9 COMMISSIONER ABDO:  I just want to -- this is a 

10 comment that's more about our -- all of our work rather 

11 than just this one item.  But if what we're trying to do 

12 is disseminate information that we have outside of this 

13 organization and to other organizations, I think one of 

14 the things that we are -- that you all are really good at 

15 is the language of strategic planning and organizational 

16 structure, and what people in general out in the world are 

17 able to hear is not that.  And so -- and I know I'm 

18 pushing on the whole communication thing, but if a regular 

19 person read all of these reports, they would be baffled by 

20 what do we mean.  

21 COMMISSIONER AU:  Rolling their eyes.

22 COMMISSIONER ABDO:  Yes.  So I think that there's 

23 a next step that goes with almost all of these 

24 conversations which is, you know, just the -- how do I say 

25 this in two sentences that make -- that -- without one of 
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 1 those kind of words that everybody's so good at in a sort 

 2 of a bureaucratic way.  That's what institutions do.  They 

 3 organize themselves in that way.  And that's how they're 

 4 effective, but then there's that -- then how do you --

 5 MS. BELSHE:  No, you're absolutely right.  

 6 Audience matters a lot.  In our communications, we're 

 7 talking Rafael and our DMH colleagues who are going to be 

 8 talking in a moment about Health Neighborhoods.  But the 

 9 work we do in the community, for example, the materials we 

10 provide, the language, the approaches for connecting 

11 information with our partnership members, very different 

12 than how we would be talking in here.  But this -- it's a 

13 constant challenge though, Judy.  You're absolutely right. 

14 Plain speak, we talked about that last year and 

15 we know we have to be very sensitive and what are the 

16 audiences and what are our goals and make sure we're using 

17 language and approaches that are relevant to those people.  

18 COMMISSIONER ABDO:  I taught kindergarten, so I 

19 was kind of thinking that way.  

20 MS. BELSHE:  And I worked for elected officials.  

21 COMMISSIONER DENNIS:  That was low.  

22 MS. BELSHE:  I have to say it.  

23 COMMISSIONER DENNIS:  Steven, I do have one 

24 comment on the key findings and then we can stop and take 

25 a break after this and then we start in with our DMH 
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 1 folks. 

 2  When a key finds, the first bullet is strategy 

 3 refinement that's fundamental to the overall TMO process.  

 4 I would challenge that because I think it's more of a 

 5 symbiotic relationship between the strategic refinement 

 6 and TMO.  And the degree to which you do both effectively 

 7 and the interaction and the exchange I think you have at 

 8 the end of the day a more effective organization.  So I 

 9 just would challenge that because one would think that the 

10 TMO comes as a byproduct of the strategy refinement.  And 

11 I would say, it's an interaction and interchange and very 

12 symbiotic.  That would be my only comment with regards to 

13 that.  

14 MR. LAFRANCE:  I think that's absolutely fair and 

15 -- and appreciate the reflection.  I agree.  

16 COMMISSIONER DENNIS:  Okay.  We'll take a break 

17 for ten minutes and then we'll get back with Sam and his 

18 stuff.  

19 (A brief break.)

20 MS. BELSHE:  Duane, I believe Rafael's going to 

21 make some opening statements to set the stage for this 

22 agenda.  

23 COMMISSIONER DENNIS:  Great.  Let's get it on.  

24 MR. GONZALEZ:  I think you all can hear me, 

25 right? 
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 1  Good afternoon, commissioners. 

 2  As we continue to bring greater focus and clarity 

 3 to First 5 LA and impact on the lives of children and 

 4 families, we're reminded about the critical role 

 5 collaboration plays in advancing our work and maximizing 

 6 our ability to meet our outcomes.  

 7 In the fall of last year, we saw an opportunity 

 8 to collaborate with the LA County of Mental Health, DMH, 

 9 through their Health Neighborhoods initiative and we began 

10 meeting to explore a partnership and ways of bringing into 

11 alignment key aspects of our efforts that have an impact 

12 on children and families and ultimately on the county 

13 systems that we seek to change. 

14  In line with First 5 LA's communities outcomes 

15 area, health neighbors involves shared vision acting 

16 collectively to improve environments and service 

17 integration that affect families.  We are both anchored in 

18 the protective factors which in turn is linked to our 

19 Building Stronger Families Framework and to the larger 

20 national family strengthening movement, which sounds 

21 complex on the front.  Like Best Start communities, Health 

22 Neighborhoods is a community-driven change model focused 

23 on policy and systems change.  Together we have an 

24 opportunity to create greater impact in First 5 LA's four 

25 outcomes areas.  For example, improving the capacity of 
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 1 health, mental health, substance abuse service providers 

 2 to deliver trauma-informed care to children prenatal to 

 3 age five and their respective families.  We believe that 

 4 Best Start communities can serve to inform Health 

 5 Neighborhoods  and function as a platform for parents and 

 6 residents to engage with service providers as well as to 

 7 inform the future of community-based mental health service 

 8 delivery.  We also believe that Health Neighborhoods can 

 9 bring to Best Start communities increased access to 

10 underserved population, increase the quality of mental 

11 health services including better outcomes, and promote 

12 interagency collaboration related to mental health 

13 services and supports. 

14  For First 5 LA, these mutual outcomes provide us 

15 with a timely opportunity to collaborate with DMH to 

16 leverage care pathways and to bridge linkages to much 

17 needed services for children and families and to increase 

18 impact. 

19  So for today's discussion, we will provide an 

20 overview of the LA County Department of Mental Health, 

21 Health Neighbors initiative.  And at the closing, Marvin 

22 Espinoza, who is senior program officer with the Best 

23 Start communities, will recognize the opportunities that 

24 the Health Neighborhoods initiatives presents to First 5 

25 LA and to Best Start communities. 
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 1  This afternoon, we're joined by key staff from 

 2 DMH who we have an honor of calling public partners.  It's 

 3 been a pleasure working with you all on this who will lead 

 4 this presentation and give us the ins and outs of Health 

 5 Neighborhoods.  We have with us Dr. Sam Chan, District 

 6 Chief Family Community Partnerships Systems and Care, and 

 7 Kathleen Kerrigan, mental health Clinical Program Manager 

 8 III with the Office of the Chief Deputy Director. 

 9  I know he's not here today, but I also wanted to 

10 recognize Commissioner Marvin Southard for leading the 

11 charge on Health Neighborhoods in Los Angeles and 

12 recognizing that none of us can go at systems and 

13 community change alone.  He truly is a champion in this 

14 sphere and we extent our gratitude to him. 

15  So at this point, I'd like to now introduce 

16 Kathleen Kerrigan, who together with Sam Chan will guide 

17 us through this presentation.

18 COMMISSIONER DENNIS:  It's really unfortunate 

19 that Marv's not here.  He would have loved to hear this 

20 presentation.  As you all know, Marv knows very little 

21 about this.  And we as commissioners haven't heard about 

22 this for the last couple of years.  

23 MR. GONZALEZ:  We'll have a lot to share with him 

24 the next time.

25 COMMISSIONER DENNIS:  So thank you all for coming 
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 1 and we're glad you're here.  

 2 MS. KERRIGAN.  Good afternoon, everyone.  My name 

 3 is Kathy Kerrigan.  I work in the Office of Integrated 

 4 Care.  And one of the things that I'm charged with doing 

 5 is actually the countywide -- the countywide 

 6 implementation of Health Neighborhoods.  I am working in 

 7 conjunction with our service area district chiefs across 

 8 the county.  And so I'm delighted to be here today to give 

 9 you a little bit of information about Health 

10 Neighborhoods. 

11  These are fancy gadgets that we don't have. 

12 Okay.  What I'd like to do is actually just 

13 provide you an overview that will contain a brief review 

14 of the county strategic plan and what we are currently 

15 focusing on within the Department of Mental Health, 

16 provide an update to you all about where we are in the 

17 process of the development.  It's at its very beginning 

18 stages.  And try to demystify the term Health 

19 Neighborhoods because I keep hearing that word in lots of 

20 places and it means different things to different people. 

21 Okay.  As far as the county strategic plan, there 

22 was an amendment put forth last year basically that 

23 initiated a Health Neighborhood project.  And that Health 

24 Neighborhood project was really geared toward using 

25 existing resources within the community to engage them in 
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 1 a dialogue about pinpointing specific health, behavioral 

 2 health issues of concerns across the communities.  While 

 3 that is in and of itself an enormous goal if you try to 

 4 break it down into digestible bites, the focus areas are 

 5 as follows:  Basically, to create a blueprint for both 

 6 creating and sustaining the Health Neighborhood, to 

 7 identify oversight and accountability for Health 

 8 Neighborhoods, to develop Health Neighborhood pilots.  And 

 9 that's, basically, going to be the focus of discussion for 

10 today.  To expand access to services, which is one of the 

11 things that really is to critical I think to all of us, 

12 and to enhance collaborative care.  The picture goal is 

13 that we improve the health and well-being of everyone in 

14 Los Angeles. 

15  As I mentioned, we have been working with various 

16 -- various entities both with our directly operated 

17 programs and with contract agencies with the Department of 

18 Public Health, with the substance abuse prevention control 

19 folks that are part of DPH, as well as other partners 

20 including LA Care.  I think it's important to recognize 

21 that, while this strategic goal in terms of the 

22 development of Health Neighborhoods is really -- Marv -- 

23 Dr. Southard has been given the responsibility for moving 

24 it forward.  This is a county related goal.  So it would 

25 involve all the county departments. 
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 1  All right.  Let me just begin by talking about 

 2 Health Neighborhoods and what does it mean.  For us, we 

 3 had had the convening of several work groups in 2000 I 

 4 think 13, now -- yes, 2013 -- where we were talking about 

 5 health care reform, various aspects of health care reform 

 6 from payment reform to -- to things like Health 

 7 Neighborhoods.  As part of that Health Neighborhood work 

 8 group discussion, there were two concept models that were 

 9 actually put forth that I think are probably going to be 

10 fairly familiar to you at this point.  One of those models 

11 was really about community change, about achieving 

12 community health and wellness, about addressing social 

13 determinants of health, which I'm sure certainly you are 

14 all familiar with, and that change model was really 

15 community driven and focused on policy and system change.  

16 So that was one component.  I will refrain from 

17 explaining what a social determinant of health is because 

18 I'm sure that you all are already aware of those.  But I 

19 also suspect that you are aware you have been doing a lot 

20 of work along those lines already as part of Best Start.  

21 I think about other county departments.  Public health, 

22 they immunize for measles.  They have been actually in a 

23 pretty high profile recently because of the measles 

24 outbreak.  Department of Mental Health has been working on 

25 antistigma campaigns for the community.  So there's a 
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 1 number of things that have been taking place already. 

 2 This community change piece, people may have 

 3 heard references -- and I don't know Dr. Southard has 

 4 referenced it, but has talked about the big H big N.  This 

 5 is the big one.  The other -- the other important model is 

 6 the service delivery model.  And this is where I come in, 

 7 my office comes in.  The service delivery model is really 

 8 at least initially looking at providers of health, mental 

 9 health, substance abuse, and public health where they are 

10 direct service providers.  The focus with this service 

11 delivery model is really to improve the access through an 

12 integrated network of care.  We're looking to improve the 

13 quality of services that are000 delivered, improve the 

14 care coordination which desperately needs to happen across 

15 varying providers and, hopefully, if we can improve our 

16 communication, contain health care costs to the extent 

17 that providers communicated with each other and they don't 

18 have to replicate maybe tests or labs that were done at 

19 one location.  It would be a savings, you know, for the 

20 whole. 

21  Again, so this is the little H little N that we 

22 refer to.  And this service delivery model, this is not -- 

23 it -- it's captured here, but this is something that the 

24 federal government has been aware of.  Breaking down the 

25 silos has been -- that discussion has been happening for 
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 1 20-some years and there's -- there's a real awareness that 

 2 we need to do a better job in that area. 

 3  When I think about the community change model and 

 4 I think about the service delivery model, in my mind, they 

 5 are in very many respects interdependent.  You can be 

 6 working on social determinants of health and -- but if 

 7 there is a nexus with those social determinants with 

 8 health, mental health, substance abuse, or some public 

 9 health -- HIV is a good example -- you need to have a 

10 service delivery model that's functional.  Likewise, on 

11 the service delivery model side, if we're communicating 

12 here but you're living in an area where there's enormous 

13 amount of toxins, that's going to be kind of an uphill 

14 battle.  So there are some connections, I think, between 

15 the two that we really need to look at. 

16  On a personal level, I think probably many of us 

17 -- talking about service delivery models, many of us have 

18 had experiences either personally or with loved ones in 

19 dealing with the health care system at large.  I have a 

20 dad who has dementia, who's part of a wonderful managed 

21 care plan.  I happen to be a nurse and a licensed clinical 

22 social worker by training.  And I have worked in both 

23 systems.  I know how to navigate.  I have had challenges 

24 getting doctors within the same managed care plan to talk 

25 to each other.  And that's within the same plan, let alone 
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 1 across systems. 

 2  So I think you can all think of examples that you 

 3 may have had where that communication is really critical.  

 4 And so that's the focus at least initially for the work 

 5 that we're doing. 

 6  The next -- the next slide -- and I don't know if 

 7 you can see it very well, but for folks who like pictures, 

 8 this is basically a diagram that we have been using in DMH 

 9 to kind of give you a conceptual framework of what we're 

10 trying to talking about.  The 

11 patient/client/consumer/resident of the communities is in 

12 the center.  The initial circle, the innermost circle is 

13 really made up of health, mental health, substance abuse 

14 and public health services.  And that's the service 

15 delivery model that we're trying to focus in on.  At the 

16 same time, we recognize that not all needs can be met by 

17 those kinds of providers; that there are a plethora of 

18 other needs that consumers may have for which we will need 

19 to involve social service, housing, vocational, any number 

20 of other things that will need to be brought into the 

21 picture. 

22  Where we are beginning actually is with several 

23 pilot areas.  We had initially focused on five areas, but 

24 the ones that were not included in the five said, well, 

25 what about me.  So my staff and I have been working with 
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 1 them to develop pilot areas in seven of our eight service 

 2 areas.  We anticipate that there will be one eventually in 

 3 service area five.  They just have not yet determined what 

 4 area. 

 5  I think you all have had maps distributed to you.  

 6 And so you have copies of the maps in front of you that 

 7 will depict where in Lancaster -- it's actually the city 

 8 of Lancaster that has been chosen for service area one.  

 9 The Pacoima area is in service area two.  El Monte in 

10 service area three.  Boyle Heights, again, we are yet to 

11 determine where in service area five, but the MLK/Watts/ 

12 Willowbrook area southeast Los Angeles, that's a 

13 seven-city approaching like nine cities area.  And then 

14 central Long Beach. 

15  To some extent, the five areas with the exception 

16 of El Monte and southeast Los Angeles were really chosen 

17 because there were existing initiatives there.  To the 

18 extent that we can capitalize on the existing networks to 

19 build this, it was really thought to be the best approach. 

20 We have been doing presentations in the service 

21 areas to the providers, to the service area advisory 

22 committees in each of these areas that are made up of a 

23 variety of providers but also consumers, family members 

24 who have been very much interested in this.  There has 

25 been a lot of really positive response to just trying to 
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 1 pull these service delivery providers to together. 

 2  Where we are at this point, the department had 

 3 drafted memorandum of understanding that is actually 

 4 intended to be a multiagency MOU so that all of the 

 5 providers who are participating -- say Pacoima -- in a 

 6 particular Health Neighborhood, will sign on to be part of 

 7 that service delivery system.  We've also developed a 

 8 draft a release of information so that providers -- if the 

 9 consumer wished to sign, the providers could easily share 

10 information back and forth that was specific for their -- 

11 for their care. 

12  We have -- I -- we're in the process of 

13 identifying how referrals will work back and forth.  One 

14 of the things when people do a referral to another kind of 

15 provider, the important piece that doesn't always happen 

16 very well is that provider needs to get a response about 

17 what happened.  So I send my referral to you and then you 

18 never hear, and it's not good for the consumer.  So that's 

19 going to be one of the processes that we're working on as 

20 well as how we're coordinating care.  Those are the things 

21 that we're going to be working on in the next several 

22 months.  We have released the draft MOU to all the 

23 participants who expressed an interest so far in all of 

24 these areas and they're providing us with feedback at this 

25 point about the MOU so we will next move on to the 
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 1 referral processes. 

 2  It is our hope that we will have five of the MOUs 

 3 signed between now and the end of the June of this year.  

 4 So it's still a lot of work to be done.  We're not quite 

 5 there, but it's moving in the right direction.  After we 

 6 have that, we have still lots of work to be done because 

 7 if we have an MOU signed, that doesn't mean that's a 

 8 robust system. 

 9  So the other thing I didn't mention -- I want to 

10 go back ever so briefly if it goes back that far. 

11  One of the things that, even after we sign it and 

12 before we sign MOUs, we have been trying to partner with a 

13 variety of different folks from the community, Best Start 

14 being one of those -- one of those agencies where there 

15 clearly is potential to really enhance the partnerships I 

16 think in both directions.  One of the things that we have 

17 found -- I have found across all the county areas where 

18 we've been talking is that there's a really kind of sad 

19 lack of information for what is available to a person in a 

20 community, whether that be from a health provider, a 

21 mental health provider, or other kind of social services 

22 agencies.  And one of the things that I hope at least will 

23 come out of this is that we wind up being much better 

24 educated so we can offer more services to members of the 

25 community. 
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 1  So next steps.  We have many.  It's really 

 2 interesting listening to Mr. LaFrance.  It sounded as if 

 3 there were a lot of similarities to the processes he's 

 4 described and what we're going through now.  So if we had 

 5 the MOUs signed by the end of June, we will have to refine 

 6 processes.  That's going to be an ongoing activity that we 

 7 will have to do.  We will continue to partner with 

 8 existing initiatives.  One of the things that we're really 

 9 trying to do is understand the goals of each of the other 

10 initiatives in the area, whether it's Best Start, there 

11 are a number of health consortia out in the communities, 

12 other -- other organizations, what are their goals and is 

13 there something that the Department of Mental Health can 

14 offer that will help you meet your goals so we can be good 

15 community partners.  Likewise, I think we can certainly 

16 work together on these things. 

17  I -- just to put a word out there, Best Start and 

18 the folks that we have interacted with have been very 

19 welcoming and very receptive and so I think that really 

20 just plain old feels good.  You all have been doing this 

21 for a while.  And I think, to the extent that you are 

22 willing to share information that you've acquired, will 

23 certainly help us.  We would be grateful for those 

24 learning experiences.  And I think one of the things that 

25 we will need to do is really disseminate learning that we 
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 1 have in areas across the county so that we can all share 

 2 the same information. 

 3  There is a lot to do to make this a reality, but 

 4 I'm going to stop there.  And I would actually like to 

 5 introduce Dr. Sam Chan who actually I believe all of you 

 6 probably know from Department of Mental Health. 

 7  Thank you.  

 8 MR. CHAN:  I was thinking more about that 

 9 dialogue that Kim was having with Judy about trying to get 

10 the language of connection and approach that.  And a good 

11 colleague of mine, John Ott, actually had another way of 

12 thinking about things and he actually used his own little 

13 saying, and it went something like, what we really need to 

14 know in life may best be communicated in a language we do 

15 not yet understand.  So whether we're talking bureaucracy 

16 or a person in the public, just get it to plain English.  

17 Some of the most profound things or life's lessons often 

18 are transmitted in ways other than through language, 

19 through experience.  And this is kind of what I'm talking 

20 about, the life blood of the soul of community.  It's not 

21 just about adjusting language or philosophy or how you 

22 strategy; it's about just kind of intuitively knowing how 

23 to go to work. 

24  So that's kind of underpinning of some of the 

25 principles that we approach in our work.  Let me begin 

 72



 1 with kind of national perspective because of whenever we 

 2 want to promote a certain idea, an innovative change, some 

 3 kind of revolution or movement of some kind, as Arlo 

 4 Guthrie would say,  If you're just one person trying to 

 5 promote the idea, they'll isolate you and call you crazy. 

 6 Crazy term, by the way is taboo in our politically-correct 

 7 -- so if it's one person, they'll isolate you; two people, 

 8 they'll split you, but three people and it's a movement.  

 9 And we've learned over time that an advocacy strategy 

10 that's very powerful is to take a person in a leadership 

11 role who you need to influence and convince and have three 

12 different inputs coming from what is seemingly 

13 independently sources all saying the same thing in a short 

14 period of time, and they'll accept it as the truth.  So 

15 let's start with the national perspective, work to the 

16 state, and then go from there. 

17  So on the national level, the substance abuse and 

18 mental health services administration, as one of their 

19 priority areas when they start talking about national 

20 prevention strategies is to promote mental and emotional 

21 well-being by a focus on positive early child development 

22 including parenting in a violence-free home, which we hear 

23 -- any number of times, we talk about spanking-free zones.  

24 So no violence, how do we eradicate child abuse and 

25 neglect.  Deanne loved -- that's music to her ears and it 
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 1 was great book about how that actually could be done.  But 

 2 in any case, that's another conversation.  

 3 Facilitate social connectedness and community 

 4 engagement across the life span.  Social connectedness.  

 5 We'll hear about that a lot on the protective factors 

 6 side.  On into providing individuals and families with the 

 7 support they need in order to maintain positive well-being 

 8 and promoting early identification of mental health needs 

 9 and access to quality services.  Every one of those that 

10 were developed over time with a number of great minds and 

11 progressive folks in the mental health field are moving 

12 what has been the field of mental health sometimes equally 

13 mental illness because that's how people think about it 

14 more than anything with the stigma, to really looking at 

15 well-being and promoting mental health.  It's a new phase 

16 of our whole kind of public mental health system for us to 

17 be proactively engaged in that work. 

18  So if you look then from the movement of the -- 

19 the national institute -- or CAMHS, which also has funded 

20 some very progressive children system of care as models of 

21 care for young children, then we come to the protective 

22 factors which we all see as the underpinning, the 

23 foundation of the Building Stronger Families Framework for 

24 First 5.  But what LA County has been in the process of 

25 moving towards adopting across county departments, CPOs, 

 74



 1 it is the language of connection that we are now using as 

 2 ways to look at them as both outcome measures, of goals 

 3 for parents and communities, language we as providers 

 4 would unite around and completely get it and understand, 

 5 but at the same time family members can identify with 

 6 these concepts and protective factors as well. 

 7  The top ones of personal resilience, social 

 8 connections and concrete supports are the big ones that 

 9 start to be kind of foundation of our collaboration across 

10 systems.  When our friend from Judy -- help me with Judy's 

11 last name from the Center -- there you go.  She's all of 

12 our friends.  She had come way back when to do some 

13 initial training with our partnership for families 

14 grantees from First 5 who happened to also be most of our 

15 legal entity, mental health DMH providers, and we all went 

16 to school with Judy, got religion, learned about 

17 strengthening families, protective factors, and that was 

18 ten -- five to ten years.  So we've been at it from that 

19 very point going forward.  We made the notion of 

20 understanding that framework a requirement of all of our 

21 providers who taught our core competencies in infant, 

22 early childhood mental health development.  So from 

23 earliest phases, we've been promoting the protective 

24 factors. 

25  Then we look at where we're going now with First 
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 1 5 and your own priority outcomes within the strategic 

 2 plan.  And we know that families at the heart here are the 

 3 idea of promoting protective factors among families, 

 4 looking at the idea of increasing community capacity as a 

 5 critical effort that's happening throughout Best Start 

 6 communities, and then moving on to early care and 

 7 education.  Duane and all of us in the policy roundtable 

 8 for child care, that's our bread and butter in that forum.  

 9 And that's clearly a critical area of need.  And then, 

10 finally, the health, mental health, substance abuse, which 

11 Kathy talked about, the anchor agencies, that's kind of at 

12 the heart at the center of those circles and integrated 

13 services.  Put them all together and they kind of flow 

14 into a strengthening families, strengthening communities, 

15 strengthening care pathways kind of a way of looking at 

16 the world, and all critical and to have operating in sync 

17 and harmony and everyone is deserving as much attention as 

18 the other. 

19  We are now in the business when we say, 

20 strengthening communities, collective impact, promoting 

21 communities' ability to in a sense empower themselves and 

22 work on their own outside of the system, that is at the 

23 core of our innovation programs that I'm going to talk 

24 about in a little bit.  But that's also new for a lot of 

25 county agencies to be in that business.  
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 1 Now I want to come to kind of our unit in DMH 

 2 called family and community partnerships.  Under our 

 3 former children's deputy director, Olivia Solis (phonetic 

 4 spelling), she -- I just wore her out and she finally just 

 5 said, call your unit family and community partnership, 

 6 that's what you really want, Sam.  Because she was having 

 7 trouble passing that on and getting accepted into the 

 8 Department of Mental Health as a legitimate unit with that 

 9 name.  That's the kind of name you'll see under grant 

10 funded programs, CBOs.  Rarely is there a county 

11 department called family and community partnerships.  And 

12 we added child PEI just because we managed 20, 30 of the 

13 evidenced-practices in our unit as well.  But we grew a 

14 unit starting with about three people ten years ago to 

15 what it is now, which is 17 people.  But how we've done 

16 what we've done is through leveraged partners and 

17 strategic partners.  That is the heart of our term of our 

18 program, because without the partnerships, you know, it 

19 wouldn't go, you don't have the staff to really have the 

20 critical mass, and why would you want it to come from a 

21 county department anyway as the primary leadership group.  

22 It's the notion of building networks of networks. 

23  So within that framework of how we potentially 

24 could begin in the beginning -- and also, by the way, 

25 another name I really identify is with maternal child 
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 1 adolescent health.  I love Suzanne runs a program at 

 2 Public Health which I fully identify with because we're 

 3 looking at cross-over issues with kids with developmental, 

 4 special, chronic health conditions, perinatal mental 

 5 health.  Also new to the mental health world sa far as a 

 6 primary population.  That's part of our integration. 

 7  Then as we look at what we actually do in our 

 8 unit, here's where I think it starts to get more concrete.  

 9 One of our primary goals is to look at local agency 

10 capacity to in terms of addressing the mental health needs 

11 of children and families, strengthen the local level 

12 ability to build resources, promoting strategic 

13 investments and early child investment, early childhood in 

14 mental health.  And that's where First 5 is a critical 

15 partner with the Partnership for Early Childhood 

16 Investment with all the core philanthropy and grantees 

17 throughout all of LA county start to align their interests 

18 in promoting infant early childhood development, mental 

19 health, well-being.  It's all in there, but that's an 

20 evolving opportunity as well that's occurred in recent 

21 past.  And that's new to LA, to be able to see all the 

22 funders come and unite around why investments in early 

23 childhood is critical and start to influence the business 

24 community as well as public and private systems. 

25  Then we go to the next one, which is related 
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 1 contribute to workforce program and policy development.  

 2 And on the policy side, that's where I think we've learned 

 3 from the strengthening families movement why it becomes so 

 4 critical to address the levers of change as they're 

 5 called.  When we talk about levers of change, that has 

 6 really defined a lot of the core work in DMH, in our unit 

 7 and other partnerships throughout the county starting with 

 8 policy and systems change.  So the critical issues in 

 9 systems change are where you have part partnerships like 

10 the policy roundtable, the policy advocacy work done 

11 through First 5, through The Advancement Project, the 

12 water coolers, all the kind of state-wide, local, national 

13 initiatives that we actually build into our leadership 

14 training for our providers.  So besides delivering 

15 services, they're paying attention to where the big 

16 policies are involving as well and have impact and 

17 contribute input into that.  

18 Our training programs for parents at Magnolia and 

19 other community groups, ultimately Best Start 

20 partnerships, is to reinforce the experience of parents so 

21 they can go do testimonies and hearings, have impact on 

22 actual policy.  One of the critical things that was stated 

23 in kind of the way we align our work is not to just 

24 develop service delivery systems, mental health, health 

25 care, substance abuse, so there's access and more families 
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 1 can get served and underserved, appropriately served, 

 2 cultural --all those terms that we use, it's about having 

 3 parents informed how those systems should actually look, 

 4 not just access them.  Accessing -- I hate to say it, but 

 5 one of the colleagues of the deputy director for children 

 6 and family services once said, what's the point of 

 7 integrated service if you're integrating crap. You know 

 8 what I'm saying. 

 9  So it's our way of saying that the services 

10 themselves have to rise to the quality and relevance of 

11 what is appropriate care besides -- before we just focus 

12 on integration, per se. 

13  So what we need to then think about besides 

14 policy and systems change is parent partnerships going 

15 right to what I was just talking about; how we're talking 

16 about parents as leader, as partners in defining their 

17 kind of needs in the community, but also evolving in 

18 unique roles that we wouldn't have anticipated when they 

19 go into parent cafes and start talking about what 

20 protective factors mean in schools, in early care 

21 education settings.  Everywhere they're impacting the 

22 community, how do they start to define what's meaningful 

23 for them.  And oftentimes, it has nothing to do with 

24 mental health.  In fact, they stay far away from that 

25 concept.  And then you get them together and that's all 
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 1 they're talking about.  The kids and the behaviors and the 

 2 problems and the stress and domestic violence.  It has 

 3 such taboo and stigma, but it has such priority focus once 

 4 families come into a trusting circle.  So that's the 

 5 parents side of it. 

 6  Project ABC probably optimizes -- why I mentioned 

 7 CAMHS-funded programs -- as the kind of vehicle where a 

 8 lot of that's occurring, focused on service area four, 

 9 central LA, now moved to South Bay.  A lot of different 

10 models are coming out of pre-ABC.  

11 Professional development then becomes the next 

12 major area.  And that's the one where I think our unit 

13 does the most work as far as early infant, early childhood 

14 mental health, training for our provider community, 

15 looking at a lot of critical issues on evidence-based 

16 practices, best practices in the field.  All of those 

17 other areas like policy program, we bring into a network 

18 we call infant child and relationship enrichment or ICARE.  

19 And that's a 400 member network that we disseminate 

20 information, do quarterly trainings with and also have a 

21 steering committee that starts to set the agenda for the 

22 field for us in LA county of where the focus should be. 

23  And in that ICARE steering committee, that's one 

24 of the major community networks and partnerships that we 

25 start to develop our work around.  And that's where this 
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 1 critical area of trauma-informed care, which is one of the 

 2 center pieces of the integration around health, mental 

 3 health and abuse services, trauma-informed care and -- 

 4 we've done presentations here for First 5 and the 

 5 commission before -- that has become a central vehicle for 

 6 our innovation programs.  We will be looking at that to 

 7 what Kathy was talking about:  What are the social 

 8 determinants of trauma.  And trauma equals in many cases 

 9 poverty.  It equals domestic violence, abuse, community 

10 violence.  We can name the vast array of trauma, but 

11 trauma is pervasive conditions in the larger community.  

12 It's personal trauma.  It's stress.  There's so many 

13 definitions, but as we move to adverse childhood 

14 experiences or the ACEs study.  That is now starting to be 

15 back to a nationwide, Hunters Point, Nadine Burke Harris,  

16 Kamala Harris, everyone's getting a religion on where 

17 trauma is at the root of so much of our social stresses 

18 and risk factors and all of what we see.  When Bruce Perry 

19 talks about how investments for brain development should 

20 be going on from birth to three, but they actually go just 

21 the opposite direction.  I'm looking at your revenue 

22 expenditures.  It kind of looks like that Bruce Perry 

23 chart.  The money starts to flow really high end toward 

24 prisons and juvenile justice and adult care, children's 

25 investments way underfunded when that's really the 
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 1 critical period.  So we're going in the wrong directions 

 2 of where our investments should be.  That's when we know 

 3 we're looking at community partnerships with our 

 4 policymakers as well. 

 5  So let me just quit here with innovations project 

 6 by saying, this is the area we'll be funding to the tune 

 7 of probably 17, 20 million in 2016 going forward on an 

 8 age-span, life-span effort to alternate place-based -- it 

 9 will tie into the Health Neighborhood concept of investing 

10 funds and trying to look at the social determinants of 

11 trauma across unique age groups, transition-aged youth, 

12 adults, older adults, and intergenerational kind of 

13 approach.  But for the prenatal to five, we're looking at 

14 kind of two models:  One is this notion of a clubhouse 

15 where you would have a center that families and young 

16 children birth to five could come and learn developmental 

17 skills and kind of an informal setting, mirroring a lot of 

18 what may be out there now, but its targeted focus would be 

19 mental health, mental health literacy.  Parents 

20 grandparents, bring everyone in in terms of an opportunity 

21 to work with young children but have that also be 

22 connected to these care pathways.  But ultimately, to 

23 screen, identification, assessment of children through 

24 other vehicles. 

25  Another version goes from five to 15 looking at 
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 1 school-base more community-base centers that would look at 

 2 violence prevention by training early care education 

 3 folks, schoolteachers personnel, and look at more of a 

 4 community school model that's tied to in some cases the 

 5 wellness centers through LAUSD, the current First 5-funded 

 6 program that looks at the early education, early 

 7 developmental connections to the schools.  That's another 

 8 arena.  And we've picked those two to kind of start out 

 9 with these innovation programs to start working with our 

10 families to see how those models would be different than 

11 the ones we currently use.  So that's two that I just put 

12 out there.  

13 When we look at the critical need for parents and 

14 their engagement, some of the things we talk about when we 

15 looked at early brain development in presentations we do 

16 on these core competencies, one of the things that comes 

17 up over and over is that, when parents are asked at what 

18 age a child can experience sadness, depression, a range of 

19 emotions, it's amazing how many families, when you look at 

20 zero to three research studies coming out of Michigan 

21 about what constitute -- or Minnesota rather about what 

22 constitutes quality early care education, a lot of 

23 families only 30 percent of parents in these earlier 

24 research studies really understand that children can 

25 experience these ranges of feeling at such a young age. 
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 1 They're starting to think more kids at the preverbal 

 2 levels -- kids can experience depression.  And we know 

 3 six-month old infants can be depressed.  When we talk 

 4 about infant mental health, how are babies n the couch.  

 5 It brings up, how do you have therapy with an infant.  But 

 6 it's this parent/family/child diad, it's the family 

 7 engagement.  At the heart of this Best Start and mental 

 8 health collaboration is our notion of working in concert 

 9 with community organizing and protective factors being 

10 identified with bringing mental health understanding and 

11 making a legitimate area to have conversation. 

12  And toward that end, our constant monthly 

13 meetings and regular meetings with Rafael and Marvin and 

14 the project officers have led to a plan where in April, we 

15 will have Project ABC doing a major forum that will be 

16 bringing teams together to work on evolving children's 

17 system of care.  Six Best Start teams have been identified 

18 to participate in that.  We're going to plan to do a 

19 follow-up with that April Session in June where we'll have 

20 our service area district chiefs from DMH, their birth to 

21 five coordinators then work with their counterparts of 

22 Best Start community project officers to look at how to 

23 grow networks in those Best Start communities tied into 

24 our Health Neighborhood concepts but have a more direct 

25 dialogue about how we do this dance together; not just 
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 1 resource development, but how we learn the language coming 

 2 out of the parent leadership and the folks that are 

 3 building the Best Start communities with a systems 

 4 perspective where we work like a Project ABC almost. 

 5  And so you're seeing kind of how to capitalize on 

 6 one event and one kind of --

 7 MS. BELSHE:  Sam, excuse me for interrupting.  

 8 Say a word or two about Project ABC because let's make 

 9 sure --

10 MR. CHAN:  That's jargon too unto itself. 

11  Project ABC is about building connections.  

12 Project ABC is funded through the Substance Abuse and 

13 Mental Health Services Administration as model system of 

14 care.  There are many throughout the country that have 

15 been funded for decades now, but in this latest round of 

16 five years in south central LA, now to South Bay, another 

17 five-year grant where we are looking at how to wrap 

18 services around children who are at risk of entering the 

19 child welfare system or are in the child welfare system to 

20 provide the most comprehensive support for those families 

21 possible to really be able to promote well-being and to 

22 also give them the best possible kind of outcomes.  It 

23 involve as a very strong collaborative relationship with 

24 the Department of Children and Family Services, a network 

25 of our provider agencies in DMH.  In our current iteration 
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 1 in South Bay, we have Pacific-Asian Counseling Services 

 2 with a really focused outreach in Long Beach on the 

 3 Cambodian community.  We have really expanded the capacity 

 4 to serve and distinct underserved Asian community, Latino, 

 5 Spanish-speaking families, African-American families.  We 

 6 look at disproportionate issues in the child welfare 

 7 system.  CAMHS a tends to fund cutting-edge, 

 8 state-of-the-art models which then die after the funding 

 9 goes away because Medi-Cal and our bureaucratic system 

10 cannot support those same kind of models and services.  So 

11 that's one of the biggest policy challenges of how you 

12 translate the work we're doing now about sustainability. 

13  So in any case, that -- I hope, Kim, that gave a 

14 little bit of an explanation.  So here we are with only 

15 years to go left in that grant and I was successful -- we 

16 think of it like six years out, way beyond the end of the 

17 grant in terms of what it's going to look like beyond 

18 that. 

19  I'm talking probably over my time here, but I 

20 just wanted to say we're really, really excited about 

21 continuing work.  And it's not Best Start only, but the 

22 personnel and the professional development kind of work 

23 going on with the interdisciplinary core curriculum.  

24 We're talking about transdisciplinary leadership 

25 consortium, things like that.  That's a dream to start to 
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 1 see the convergence of our service delivery system with 

 2 the community resources that are growing over time in 

 3 sophistication.  And we're just looking forward to 

 4 whatever we do next.

 5 COMMISSIONER DENNIS:  Thank you both.  And before 

 6 we go on, could we have commissioners, if they have 

 7 questions of mental health, and then we can segue into the 

 8 presentation from staff.

 9 MS. BELSHE:  Actually, if we could, Duane, I 

10 think Marvin's just going to say a few words about the 

11 connection between Best Start and what we just heard from 

12 our DMH colleagues that might be helpful additional piece 

13 before we open it up to questions.  

14 MR. GONZALEZ:  Just briefly if you don't mind.

15 Hank you very much.  In deed, the leveraging and 

16 the partnering as Best Start communities are building 

17 these networks.  And thank you, Dr. Chan, and Ms. 

18 Kerrigan, for the overview. 

19  When it comes to the collaboration, for example, 

20 the Best Start community partners are these platforms 

21 where parents and residents can actually inform the system 

22 integration because they have identified consistently the 

23 need to partner with service organizations to address the 

24 issues related to trauma.  And this space also provides 

25 the DMH colleagues the opportunity to systems issues as 
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 1 experienced from parents and residents. 

 2  In the area of leveraging, for example, the Best 

 3 Start partnerships have discussed and identified target 

 4 populations such as team parents, core results, such as 

 5 social connection and indicators through their learning by 

 6 doing process, which demonstrates this synergy with both 

 7 efforts.  And by working with DMH, we can leverage this 

 8 work for greater impact. 

 9  In the partnership, there's a tremendous 

10 opportunity with the Best Start communities to work with 

11 services.  And the Health Neighborhood initiative is a 

12 very good example of how this partnership can lead to 

13 opportunities to advance improvements across these 

14 health-related systems and help the greater number of 

15 children and families.  So at this time the DMH teams and 

16 Best Start teams are meeting to identify this 

17 collaboration opportunities. 

18  In terms of next steps -- and Dr. Chan alluded to 

19 some of this -- is that we will continue the learning and 

20 the collaboration that's taken place with our DMH 

21 colleagues and share lessons learned from the field 

22 through our monthly meetings.  Now these meetings serve as 

23 a forum vice versa where we learn and they learn, they 

24 share and we share related to community partnerships and 

25 for us to keep our finger on the pulse in terms of 
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 1 progress and developments related to the Health 

 2 Neighborhood initiative. 

 3  In closing, the Health Neighborhood initiatives 

 4 do demonstrate a strong alignment of efforts with First 5 

 5 LA.  It maximizes the leveraging and underscores our 

 6 admission that we can't do this work alone.  It also 

 7 focuses on parents and residents which are at the core of 

 8 the Best Start partnerships.  It also shows an alignment, 

 9 as you saw from the maps of geography.  And that's a very 

10 good premise in terms of greater impact.  There's an 

11 alignment to the theory of change where in term evaluation 

12 we can measure success.  And also there's alignment in 

13 terms of the population where children zero to five and 

14 their families can have access to resources. 

15  So that's the leveraging and partnership that 

16 really drives at making Best Start communities this 

17 network of networks.

18 MR. ESPINOZA:  And will continue to shape these 

19 partnerships.  At this point, we would love to open it up 

20 to any questions that folks may have.  

21 COMMISSIONER DENNIS:  Let's frame it like this.  

22 Let's ask mental health before we get into the alignment 

23 issue.  Is there any clarification we need with regards to 

24 the presentation of the mental health that Kathleen and 

25 Sam gave because, I think if we don't have clarity about 
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 1 that, we're going to have, you know, confusion about the 

 2 alignment.  So let's ask those questions to mental health 

 3 first and then we'll get to staff on some of the alignment 

 4 issues. 

 5  Nancy.  

 6 COMMISSIONER AU:  Well, I guess I may have missed 

 7 -- let me start with just sort of a clarification, please.  

 8 When you mentioned MOUs, they're being signed by -- are 

 9 these providers within the mental health system?  These 

10 are communities organizations that are contracted with the 

11 Department of Mental Health?  

12 MS. KERRIGAN:  The goal for the signing of the 

13 MUOs again goes back to the service delivery model.  So it 

14 will be a combination of contract agencies for mental 

15 health, but also health providers whether that be 

16 Department of Health Services, whether that be FQHCs or 

17 DHS contract agencies most of whom are FQHCs, also 

18 substance abuse providers as well as public health.  So 

19 we're trying to get all those providers together under one 

20 MOU.  

21 COMMISSIONER AU:  And you said there was five of 

22 them that already signed?  

23 MS. KERRIGAN:  No.  No.  No.  I wish.  I would be 

24 breathing a whole lot easier.  The goal is to have five of 

25 them signed between now and the end of June of this year.  
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 1 COMMISSIONER AU:  Five of whom?  

 2 MS. KERRIGAN:  Five MOUs representing five 

 3 different Health Neighborhoods across the county.

 4 COMMISSIONER AU:  Okay.  Got it. 

 5  Now, the other piece that I may not have quite 

 6 understood is how is the Health Neighborhoods -- and Sam's 

 7 -- what is it now called, Sam?  Your -- what's your 

 8 acronym.  FCP child PEI---

 9 MR.  CHAN:  Just our unit name, family and 

10 community partnerships.  

11 COMMISSIONER AU:  How is that connected because I 

12 get a sense that what you're doing is broader than the 

13 selected Health Neighborhoods.  So --

14 MR. CHAN:  Well, I think Kathy's staff also have 

15 been proactively engaged at the service area level with 

16 the service area advisory committees,  the SACs where 

17 presentations are going forward, to really bring the 

18 concept to the provider community.  But the alignment with 

19 Best Start neighborhoods communities geographically within 

20 that lets the district chiefs within those respective -- 

21 which is a lot of where our focus is as Department of 

22 Mental Health, our service area district chiefs, their 

23 staff, how they oversee the legal entities and promote a 

24 lot of community networks and building rests with them and 

25 their leadership.  Our unit comes in and tries to support 
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 1 a countywide effort.  It drills down at the local level 

 2 with those birth-to-five coordinators, our colleagues 

 3 working in local projects.  I mentioned Magnolia, programs 

 4 in El Monte, Antelope Valley.   We have colleagues that -- 

 5 special programs within each one of those, but we take a 

 6 countywide kind of oversight role and we take a special 

 7 slice of the prenatal to five area as a focus.  Health 

 8 Neighborhoods is life span.  

 9 MS. KERRIGAN:  It's life span, yeah.  

10 MR. CHAN:  That's why we try to focus 

11 specifically on the needs of young children, but are 

12 mindful of life span as the real partnership here as well.  

13 So that's it. 

14  And the other thing is, we're looking -- we kind 

15 of step back.  We do administer a lot of the 

16 evidence-based programs as well, including our First 5 

17 grant for promoting parent/child therapy.  That's kind of 

18 like a specialized Project ABC program where you've got an 

19 infusion of a significant amount of funding for a focused 

20 effort, but you kind of maximize the leveraging of that 

21 project into how it creates a bigger menu, not to mention 

22 more highly trained professionals in a specialty area that 

23 then lets them develop competencies in birth to five in a 

24 bigger way. 

25  So we're always trying to think small kind of 
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 1 focused efforts make it happen, pilots to policy kind of 

 2 notion, And then try to promote on a countywide basis.

 3 COMMISSIONER DENNIS:  Any other questions? 

 4 COMMISSIONER AU:  Just one more having to do with 

 5 sustainability.

 6 COMMISSIONER DENNIS:  Sure.

 7 COMMISSIONER AU:  With your ABC program and 

 8 knowing that always CAMHS grants are just essentially five 

 9 years, is there an opportunity for this particular program 

10 to be able to get funding through the mental health 

11 initiative that was passed?  

12 MR. CHAN:  Yeah.  I think as far as the treatment 

13 services, all that we currently fund through prevention, 

14 early intervention, EPSDT, very similar to the -- built 

15 into that grant was the ability to leverage those funds 

16 currently in place to support those practices in any case.  

17 But where we come up short is the additional dollars for 

18 infrastructure, for training.  We say in our field, 

19 training is forever.  Professional workforce development, 

20 community workforce.  It's forever.  Training has to be an 

21 ongoing kind of support, yet it's one of the more short 

22 changed as far as resources.  So often these grants pay 

23 for that.  When the grant goes away, training dollars go 

24 away.  So that's a big question about leadership and 

25 promoting sustainability.  Sustainability is around the 
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 1 people you're sustaining, the skills, not just the 

 2 program. 

 3  So that's the worry.  And Richard Collin and all 

 4 of his work that he's doing to build networks, this ABC 

 5 forum is a lot about having the community own some of the 

 6 continuing support as opposed to depending on just the 

 7 agencies getting paid to do it.  But I think the training 

 8 dollars is the vulnerable part about these CAMHS funded -- 

 9 or paying for prevention, promotion activities through 

10 community health educators, people outside of our system, 

11 those are vulnerable times -- dollars as well.  

12 COMMISSIONER AU:  So a follow-up is, is this a 

13 policy opportunity?  

14 MR. CHAN:  Absolutely.  

15 COMMISSIONER AU:  Okay.

16 MR. CHAN:  That's where we need to really think 

17 about what it is we want the system to fund outside of 

18 Medi-Cal or current kind of ongoing -- all the funding 

19 sources that Kim knew in all of her prior careers, where 

20 that money comes from, where the big money comes from, but 

21 where the core money, the cookie jar money in some cases.  

22 It's what the glue money is what I'm referring to.  And 

23 that's where partnership for early childhood investment 

24 can make some pretty strategic investments over time in 

25 those kind of infrastructures.  
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 1 COMMISSIONER AU:  Thank you.  

 2 COMMISSIONER DENNIS:  Okay.  Trish.  

 3 COMMISSIONER CURRY:  So I want to make sure I 

 4 understand really what this is.  And so the Health 

 5 Neighborhoods are going into areas and developing 

 6 partnerships, collaborations, and MOUs with various 

 7 different mental health, public health, health, to work 

 8 together.  Does that simplify --

 9 MS. KERRIGAN:  That simplifies it, yeah, to 

10 improve access to coordinate care as well as improving the 

11 quality of the services.  Yeah, in its simplest, that's 

12 exactly right.  

13 COMMISSIONER CURRY:  Okay.  So then it does fund 

14 projects though, some actual services or not?  

15 MS. KERRIGAN:  No.  There are no dollars behind 

16 this.  I'm sad to say, but there are no dollars behind 

17 this.  

18 COMMISSIONER CURRY:  So all the work that's being 

19 done to coordinate all of this and collaborate and MOUs 

20 and everything is all just out of hide by DMH?  There's no 

21 money for -- to do this?  

22 MS. KERRIGAN:  It is -- I guess out of hide of 

23 DMH is one way to think about it.  I think that the 

24 community, the agencies, the contractors, the providers of 

25 the services have come together willingly.  There is no 
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 1 money in it for them either.  What we have been trying to 

 2 do is explore if there are opportunities to fund some of 

 3 their time.  For example, the California Community 

 4 Foundation, they can't fund the county departments, but 

 5 there's in some areas they may be able to fund some of the 

 6 time of some of the participants who are noncounty 

 7 providers.

 8 MS. BELSHE:  What the -- if I may.  Sam, you 

 9 mentioned 17 to $20 million or something like that.  What 

10 money are those?  Can you reconcile --

11 MR. CHAN:  Those are mental health services act 

12 funds, and that comes in the next round of innovation when 

13 we had initial rounds for community support services, 

14 prevention, early intervention.  Innovation lets us 

15 develop new programs that haven't been tested in our 

16 system before but ultimately are going to be considered 

17 scaleable that would actually implement countywide.  

18 MS. BELSHE:  I'm sorry.  Maybe I'm the only one 

19 not connecting the dots between that comment and Kathy's 

20 comment that there's no money behind this.  

21 MS. KERRIGAN:  The Health Neighborhoods, there is 

22 no separate special funding for.  I think if you've got 

23 the community change -- I'm going to do my diagram -- the 

24 community change and the service delivery.  I think the 

25 other element that is in that are the innovations 
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 1 programs.  The innovations one really has been 

 2 informational for the service delivery component. 

 3  Now, the second round of innovations programming 

 4 will really inform the community building, the capacity 

 5 building within the communities.  That piece is funded.  

 6 The Health Neighborhoods at this point is not funded.  

 7 COMMISSIONER CURRY:  Okay.  And so when we look 

 8 at these programs here, those are part of the Health 

 9 Neighborhoods; and then if they are, they must be funded 

10 by somebody.

11 MR. CHAN:  Those different networks and 

12 partnerships --

13 COMMISSIONER CURRY:  Where it says programs.

14 MR. CHAN:  Right.  Okay.  Now, those -- almost 

15 all of those that are under our umbrella are funded 

16 through mental health service act prevention and early 

17 intervention funding.  And that's the same source, 

18 ultimately, through the passage of prop -- the Mental 

19 Health Services Act that actually has supported 

20 prevention, intervention.  And the innovation, that's this 

21 next round of that type of program.  But that's going to 

22 be much more community based, as we said, looking at 

23 social determinants where the grant -- the folks who will 

24 be applying will identify communities that are more -- 

25 that can include Health Neighborhoods, but involve where 
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 1 there are already existing community networks that have 

 2 been formed.  Ideally they will target their work in 

 3 existing Health Neighborhoods that we've defined.  So 

 4 we'll be setting up the criteria for applications and for 

 5 these grants where those that are successful will identify 

 6 specific geographic region that will include some of the 

 7 Health Neighborhoods that we're currently working in.  

 8 COMMISSIONER CURRY:  Okay.  I have one more 

 9 question.  So, Kathleen, what is the time frame you guys 

10 are thinking to roll this out?  

11 MS. KERRIGAN:  Which?  The Health Neighborhoods?  

12 COMMISSIONER CURRY:  Yes.

13 MS. KERRIGAN:  The service delivery component, as 

14 I mentioned, we're hoping to have five of them begun and 

15 the beginning would be noted by the signing of an MOU 

16 between now and the 30th of June of this year.  This will 

17 be an ongoing process.  Hopefully, as we get our feet wet 

18 with these Health Neighborhoods, there will be others.  

19 And while it's not funded from if you look at the -- the 

20 providers as a whole, it is advantageous certainly for a 

21 health provider to work very collaboratively with a mental 

22 health provider.  You know, there are -- there are issues 

23 about hospitalization and rehospitalization that can carry 

24 with them financial consequences for a health providers. 

25 There are many, many mental health issues that are 
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 1 co-occurring with a variety of chronic physical illnesses.  

 2 And it is to their advantage as well as the consumer's 

 3 advantage that we partner on these. 

 4  So that is hopefully going to be some degree of 

 5 leverage because it's something that's clearly need and 

 6 the -- the addressing the mental health and substance 

 7 abuse problems will certainly bring down the overall cost 

 8 of care on the health services side.  It may not be as 

 9 friendly for the mental health side, but it will have a 

10 positive impact on their health.

11 COMMISSIONER DENNIS:  Any other clarifying 

12 questions? 

13  Sam, you had talked about parent cafes and then 

14 something commensurate you talked about was like 

15 children's type of cafes. 

16  MR. CHAN:  The clubhouse?  

17 COMMISSIONER DENNIS:  Yeah.  My only comment and 

18 thought around that, you had the existing child care 

19 center-based programs.  You may not need to develop a 

20 whole other configuration.  You may just go into -- 

21 especially the subsidy programs where they don't have, you 

22 know, the mental health piece unlike our Head Start 

23 program which would have that component.  So maybe a 

24 recommendation is to look at the child care infrastructure 

25 as a means to do some of that work for kids and the issues 
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 1 around mental health for --

 2 MR. CHAN:  Right.  No, I agree.  And that -- I 

 3 think that was a placeholder as a concept for us, how this 

 4 thing finally looks as an RFP will give that kind of 

 5 opportunity for people applying to identify a number of 

 6 different centers as possibilities.  It's -- the clear 

 7 notion though is not a dedicated service center; it's a 

 8 community center, could be housed potentially in an early 

 9 care education type of a setting. 

10  When we've had conversations with, Duane, policy 

11 roundtable, one of the most critical emerging areas, aside 

12 from infant -- if we talk infant mental health and 

13 focusing on training more for with the providers in cross 

14 disciplines to serve young children birth to one, birth to 

15 two, birth to three, that is at the heart of child 

16 welfare, child protection issues.  We're going to say, 

17 boom, that's where prevention lives, that's where kids are 

18 that come -- the most vulnerable population, that's where 

19 we need big support. 

20  At the other end of five, the continuum three to 

21 five, that's our whole early care education system that is 

22 also crying for mental health, social-emotional 

23 well-being, resources to be dedicated.  Again, with not 

24 enough paid resources to go there, those are the dialogues 

25 we're having in the policy roundtable, preschool 
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 1 expulsion, preschool suspension.  But how a model of early 

 2 care and early childhood mental health consultation, 

 3 they've evolved.  There are sophisticated ways to go about 

 4 it through the way Head Start, many other -- and now we 

 5 look at quality early care education.  What is quality?  

 6 It's having access to those kinds of resources, more of 

 7 our provider community ready to support those needs in 

 8 those communities including the clubhouse notion.  So I 

 9 think we see so many holes right now in our system, that's 

10 kind of how the energy --

11 COMMISSIONER DENNIS:  And I'm glad you're 

12 thinking about that. 

13  Kim.

14 MS. BELSHE:  Yes.  If I could, and -- as we all 

15 want to thank you all for spending some time with us -- 

16 the commission this afternoon.  And so many of the themes 

17 resonate with our work and challenges at First 5 LA.  I'm 

18 wondering how you all are thinking through one particular 

19 challenge as it relates to the service delivery model.  

20 And there's absolutely, as you're saying, Sam, a lot of 

21 opportunity to improve access through better coordination 

22 and integration of services that exist and connecting 

23 families to those concrete supports that exist.  Yet we 

24 also know that, even with better integration and 

25 coordination, there are resource gaps.  So take as one 
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 1 example that's very prominent through our Welcome Baby 

 2 experience gaps in access to maternal services related to 

 3 maternal depression. 

 4  How are you all thinking about not just improving 

 5 access to integration but lifting up and trying to help 

 6 address gaps?  

 7 MR. CHAN:  Yeah.  We had a conversation the other 

 8 day with a colleague from the perinatal mental health 

 9 task, Joe Blufull (phonetic), and a colleague from the Bay 

10 area who works for the Center For Dignity, Empowerment.  

11 It's a stigma reduction kind of mental health advocacy 

12 group.  They have an opportunity to work with their San 

13 Francisco Department of Public Health to identify 30 

14 percent of the mothers going through public health as all 

15 experiencing maternal depression.  And now they want to 

16 launch a program are checking in with LA to see how are 

17 you guys working your system.  It goes all the way back to 

18 that physician dictum, do not screen if you cannot treat.  

19 It's kind of like more and more we are uncovering 

20 incredible need at almost every service delivery system 

21 the county's aware of.  

22 MS. KERRIGAN:  I think the screening is a key 

23 component to that because so often -- yeah, people have 

24 not asked the question because they were afraid that they 

25 had no place to refer somebody.  And across the system, we 
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 1 need to begin to do a better job with screening early on.   

 2 MR. CHAN:  So then the question is, where do we 

 3 go from there.  

 4 MS. BELSHE:  So we're effectively doing that 

 5 through Welcome Baby.  

 6 MR. CHAN:  Yes.  Exactly.

 7 MS. BELSHE:  We're already -- we're owning that, 

 8 but we're not going to be able to own the solution alone, 

 9 so it sounds like you're going to be bumping up --

10 MR. CHAN:  We are because the more effective we 

11 are at the front of the sphere and all that identification 

12 and kind of that more aggressive front end right out of 

13 the hospital and before an NFP.  NFP is -- say to go, 

14 Suzanne.  I have plenty of stories to tell about the 

15 shortage of the dearth of resources like the mental health 

16 side and yet when you come into our system the way it's 

17 set up to treat and serve those families, it's not 

18 consistent with how needs really need to be met, like home 

19 visitation and in the community. 

20  So that's where the workforce development piece 

21 comes in, but how do you run fast enough the more you open 

22 up the need.  I mean, it's complex and there's some ethics 

23 involved too.  You know, just proportion out resources, 

24 the timing of it, which goes back to community.  It isn't 

25 all about the professional side of responsibility and more 
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 1 and more trained human resource people, graduate school 

 2 with all the degrees.  It's about community folk trying to 

 3 be available to families at the earliest stages of need 

 4 and support as well.  

 5 Anyway, it's a tough dilemma that we -- better 

 6 off -- the better we get at community engagement, the more 

 7 we realize what the real are in our system.  

 8 COMMISSIONER DENNIS:  Nancy.  

 9 COMMISSIONER AU:  Just to follow up on that, Sam, 

10 is when we talk about the stigma reduction, I think it 

11 needs to start with how we talk about this whole arena of 

12 mental health.  I think when we label it mental health, I 

13 think we're already raising flags in terms of people 

14 having some resistance to even acknowledging that that's 

15 an area of challenge.  So this is where the change in 

16 terms of fundamentally.  Perhaps the emphasis should be on 

17 social-emotional well-being.  So if you couch it and frame 

18 it in terms of social-emotional well-being, then it opens 

19 up the opportunity.  And that's where community would 

20 probably be able to resonate -- resonate and see their 

21 role in how they fit into providing an environment, 

22 whether it's in the neighborhood community or even within 

23 the family themselves, to say that we all take a role in 

24 providing that environment to support our children with 

25 social-emotional well-being. 
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 1  So I think there needs to be conversations around 

 2 that as well.

 3 COMMISSIONER DENNIS:  Now we're going to move to 

 4 the alignment piece.  Thank you.  I'm glad commissioners 

 5 got an opportunity -- thank you -- to get refinement and 

 6 clarification because you all said a lot in a short period 

 7 of time.  And so I really wanted to give folks time to get 

 8 some clarity around it.  

 9 And then, you know, our staff talked about, you 

10 know, the alignment piece and those three areas around 

11 collaboration, leverage, and partnership.  So I think this 

12 is a time to, you know, ask staff along with mental health 

13 folks about those opportunities and that sort of thing. 

14 So Trish and then we go to Suzanne.  

15 COMMISSIONER CURRY:  I just wanted to finish up a 

16 question for Sam.  You talked about the vulnerability of 

17 the zero to five and the needs and -- and DMH's focus.  

18 Does that mean that you guys are committing more of the  

19 DMHSA dollars to that population?  

20 MR. CHAN:  Yeah.  And that's where the training 

21 and support goes.  We're looking at NCAST, revolution of 

22 the medical hubs, all the recommendations coming out of 

23 the blue ribbon commission, what has to go with that to 

24 augment the provider capacities that serve very young 

25 children.  Some of it's just plain exposure.  I mean, this 
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 1 is what's taught in graduate school on infant mental 

 2 health.  It's just knowing how babies in different 

 3 settings, medical and others, just be able to have those 

 4 opportunities.  But right now the workforce, you know, and 

 5 the turnover with our -- it's a big issue to get families. 

 6  So I think we've got to concentrate the resources 

 7 and stay focused on that.  But a lot of the initiatives, 

 8 the pioneering work comes outside the mental health field.  

 9 It's maternal child health.  It's public health.  It's 

10 healthcare, NICUs and so forth.  But we've got some really 

11 good leadership on kind of how to develop broad-based 

12 programs to look at infant care.  Trauma-informed care is 

13 where some of these ACES work studies are going to go to 

14 about community building, parents as brain builders, 

15 parents' roles and larger surveillance of the bigger 

16 community.  It's different roles then their traditional 

17 mental health therapist in other words.  

18 COMMISSIONER CURRY:  And that's all a part of the 

19 health network.

20 MR. CHAN:  Well, as we grow our -- Kathy's 

21 looking at a whole lot of -- I'm very kind of microlevels 

22 here.  

23 COMMISSIONER CURRY:  Thank you.  

24 COMMISSIONER DENNIS:  Deanne.  

25 COMMISSIONER TILTON:  Well, I am so impressed 
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 1 with the presentation.  I have to say it resonated so 

 2 truly and I -- I just wanted to emphasis how important 

 3 that integration of a good things is.  And the fact that 

 4 you do overall save on resources if you are working 

 5 together, that whole public health, mental health, 

 6 substance abuse.  It really does become cost effective and 

 7 wouldn't necessarily need more money to make it cost 

 8 effective. 

 9  I also wanted to congratulation you on your 

10 comment about relationships in the community because in 

11 reality, you look at this issue of -- of post-natal 

12 depression, perinatal depression.  That is not going to be 

13 solved by any program that says, okay, if you have 

14 postnatal depression, here's a program for you.  It's got 

15 to be community support, family support, information, 

16 acceptance of the fact that it's okay if you feel terribly 

17 depressed after you have a baby, you're not a bad mother.  

18 And the family supports that and doesn't stigmatize or 

19 penalize the parent with that condition.  It's so 

20 important to -- to assure that all the pieces fit. 

21  I love your, you're isolated with one, you're 

22 split with two, and with three you've got a movement.  I 

23 really think that friends, family, and neighbors is that 

24 -- that third component that has to be there in any 

25 program that we ever try to implement.  But with the 
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 1 mental health needs of very young children, that's 

 2 friends, families, neighbors.  You know, you aren't even 

 3 to schools yet.  You're really looking at community and 

 4 understanding of the kind of supports that families need. 

 5  And if we could really be as effective as I think 

 6 you can be, we can cut not only funding -- I mean, we can 

 7 do without so much funding but we can also cut the level 

 8 of harm long term and short term to people resulting from 

 9 how they -- how they might have been supported as very 

10 young children or infants.  And believe me, infants do get 

11 depressed.  We had a five-year old trying to commit 

12 suicide.  So there's no doubt that there is the baby pouch 

13 issue that we need to address. 

14  So thank you as -- as Sam, you're always so -- to 

15 both of you, just captivating at least for me.  

16 COMMISSIONER DENNIS:  Okay.  I think we're ready 

17 to go on to alignment.  I really think we're ready.  

18 MS. BELSHE:  And to be clear, Nancy, this is not 

19 the only time we're --

20 COMMISSIONER DENNIS:  We're going to talk about 

21 this more.

22 MS. BELSHE:  The real goal of this was to hear 

23 from our Department of Mental Health colleagues to get 

24 some --

25 COMMISSIONER TILTON:  Duane is just jealous.
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 1 MS. BELSHE:  And we do have one more agenda item.  

 2 COMMISSIONER DENNIS:  Trying to move this on so 

 3 we can get out of here.  

 4 COMMISSIONER TILTON:  Happy Saint Patrick's Day 

 5 to your mother, by the way, yesterday.  

 6 MR. CHAN:  Thank you.  

 7 COMMISSIONER DENNIS:  We did have a presentation, 

 8 you know, from our Best Start folks on, you know, 

 9 possibilities and thought around alignment in the three 

10 areas they discussed with collaboration, leverage, and 

11 partnership.  

12 So do we have any questions as it pertains to 

13 potential for us as a staffing commission working with 

14 Department of Mental Health taking into consideration what 

15 we do as we relates to Best Start and our initiative -- 

16 and not only, you know, Best Start, but other things we 

17 can do. 

18  Suzanne.  

19 COMMISSIONER BOSTWICK:  Again, mainly because -- 

20 first of all, Sam and Kathleen, thank you so much. 

21  In looking at the collaboration piece, I think 

22 one of the biggest problems that I see over and over again 

23 at many, many different meetings is trying to -- to work 

24 on that coordination piece of existing resources.  I can 

25 sit at this table, I could go to the one of the Best Start 
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 1 meetings, I could go to another one and sit at the table 

 2 and hear brand new acronyms being thrown out of new 

 3 services that are out there and new providers, new 

 4 initiatives.  And I mean, it is a whole big alphabet soup 

 5 out there.  And I'm really glad that you're talking about 

 6 the language of connection and to be able to try to get 

 7 together some of these resources and services that are 

 8 good and they're not crap to be able to blend them 

 9 together in a place where people can go and know that they 

10 can get these services.  And, again, it's one of those 

11 things I see over and over again no matter what kind of 

12 medium. 

13  I was at a meeting -- I sat right next to you, as 

14 a matter of fact, in Long Beach and heard -- I live in 

15 Long Beach.  I heard about programs I had no idea they 

16 were there. 

17  So trying to coordinate some of this work somehow 

18 I know is not all in your lap, it's not all in First 5's 

19 lap.  Just trying to get this information that's good 

20 information to give to families out there in need and good 

21 resources for them.  

22 MR. GONZALEZ:  What really makes this is -- and 

23 why we're really exploring and shaping this partnership 

24 because it is a work in progress.  We're shaping what that 

25 partnership is going to look like, but for us when we're 
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 1 -- you know, right now we're going through this process 

 2 where communities are identifying their strategies and 

 3 their issues.  And some of the conversations that we've 

 4 heard on the committees regarding state access to mental 

 5 health services makes a lot of sense for us in terms of 

 6 what communities are beginning to identify. 

 7  I mean, the -- for example, you know, the social 

 8 connectedness around teen parents and the support system 

 9 that's -- so as we pursue this partnership, it is with 

10 what we're hearing from communities and what we can create 

11 in terms of more access in terms of having that future 

12 partnership with them earlier on.  So this is something 

13 that -- not just Best Start communities, but the overall 

14 organization.  It's something that we will continue to 

15 explore because there are so many possibilities here.  

16 COMMISSIONER DENNIS:  Trish.  

17 COMMISSIONER CURRY:  Well, I'm trying to 

18 understand then, so as you talk to these communities and 

19 they indicate that they do need things like more mental 

20 health services, you know, as one of the issues, then are 

21 there mental health services that -- that you can 

22 coordinate bringing in for them?  I mean, because I would 

23 think, when you're working in Best Start communities, that 

24 that's something they're defining.  And you say well, we 

25 can't do it because there's no money or something, then 
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 1 doesn't that kind of undermine some of the work that 

 2 you're trying to do because of the credibility, you know?  

 3 MR. ESPINOZA:  Well, I think that that's where 

 4 the leveraging and the partnership and the partnering with 

 5 the service providers that are at the table comes in 

 6 handy.  In deed in the -- in the work that we've done 

 7 through the learning by doing process, the residents, the 

 8 parents, have talked about wanting to be informed service 

 9 providers.  Then the service providers at the table 

10 created the space for parents to come and inform them.  

11 Could so we're creating that linkage there. 

12  Now, when it comes to a direct service, per se, 

13 that's where we also connect to broader systems, broader 

14 countywide such as the Department of Mental Health.  And 

15 that's one effort, but we have other partners also that we 

16 look for so that we can connect them to.  So that's one of 

17 our goals in Best Start. 

18  We also have a network of partners that we 

19 disseminate these type of requests and information so that 

20 we continue to insure that there's always that leveraging, 

21 there's always that partnering, there's always that 

22 collaboration that's ongoing. 

23  MR. CHAN:  Trish, the thing I'll comment to and 

24 that I had forgotten to mention, we use that term 

25 strengthening care pathways, historically that -- if you 
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 1 translate that into DMH speak, it would be more system 

 2 navigators, more case coordinators, more -- in other 

 3 words, how to get the family who's identified with a need 

 4 into the right place.  But that's a model of kind of a 

 5 closed system; you either get in or you don't.  

 6 Strengthening the care pathways means it could be 

 7 a long ways to ultimately getting the treatment or what 

 8 you are seeking, but it's the path toward getting there 

 9 where the healing also occurs or could occur or never even 

10 get to the door because you don't need to get to the door.  

11 There's a continuum of care along that care pathway that 

12 can be evolved over time.  So as Nancy's talking about 

13 what the stigma gets reduced, it's called something else. 

14 It's social connections.  It's building the relationships.  

15 It's the provider reaching out into that tunnel of care 

16 pathway and not waiting till you go up to the door either.  

17 It's a different concept.  It has be infused in our entire 

18 graduate training programs.  It's how we retrain our folks 

19 in our system, too, but that's kind of what we're 

20 thinking.

21 COMMISSIONER CURRY:  In putting together these 

22 Health Neighborhoods, you're working closely where we have 

23 Best Start.  So that I know Kim and had talked about the 

24 assessments and the home visitation and we're spending a 

25 lot of money on home visitation.  So I would hope that you 
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 1 aren't doing assessments over again.  So are like the home 

 2 visitations something that you're collaborating and 

 3 coordinating with?  

 4 MR. CHAN:  Right now with NFP, those are the 

 5 conversations we're having about field capable clinical 

 6 services, which are a version of home visitation and how 

 7 that -- 

 8 COMMISSIONER CURRY:  That NFP isn't the only -- 

 9 MR. CHAN:  Not at all.  It's one of many, but 

10 it's worth of -- that's kind of one example for sure.

11 MS. BELSHE:  I think one of the real strengths of 

12 this partnership which is still obviously evolving is 

13 going back to one of Sam's comments about the 

14 bidirectional value.  So one of the things that Best Start 

15 brings is some really rich parent centered data and 

16 information about community needs, whether it be through 

17 the partnership or through our Welcome Baby learning.  And 

18 that can then in turn help inform where there's an overlap 

19 between Best Start communities in a Health Neighborhood, 

20 what some of the priority services and supports that 

21 families are looking for.  That can then get emphasized or 

22 elevated in terms of the work that Sam and Kathy 

23 described. 

24  The Health Neighborhood, I image is going to look 

25 different community by community in order to be reflective 
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 1 of parent and community priorities.  And that's where Best 

 2 Start through Welcome Baby and the partnerships can bring 

 3 some very important learning to their work.  Does that 

 4 make sense?  

 5 COMMISSIONER CURRY:  Yeah.

 6 MS. BELSHE:  The bidirectional I think is a 

 7 really good way of thinking about both what we can give to 

 8 support your work as well as what you all give to support 

 9 our goals.

10 COMMISSIONER DENNIS:  And -- Nancy.  

11 COMMISSIONER AU:  I guess for me it's always 

12 starting from what it is ideally the best working system 

13 as well as a healthy -- a Health Neighborhood may look 

14 like a Best Start community that is truly supporting 

15 babies and families in a way that would optimize their 

16 potential.  So in some ways, I think that we almost -- for 

17 me, I bifurcate almost because the -- I think the strength 

18 of Best Start is the relationship that we are focusing in 

19 on in terms of creating this avenue for -- for folks in 

20 the name of it, the parents to have a voice and to be able 

21 to have that voice available to inform the work of the 

22 Department of Mental Health, whether it's Health 

23 Neighborhoods or your -- your unit.  But in any event, I 

24 think that's the strength of Best Start, I believe, is the 

25 parent -- the parent piece. 
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 1 The provider piece, I think is shared by all the 

 2 different agencies because each one of you have your 

 3 network of providers through your contracting.  And so I 

 4 -- when you talk about integrated and becoming a more of 

 5 an integrated coordinated service response, a lot of that 

 6 energy will need to be among the agencies.  And Best Start 

 7 can play a role or First 5 LA can play a role in terms of 

 8 informing how that would be best aligned with the needs of 

 9 community.  And that's how I envision it.  I'm staring 

10 sort of backwards here. 

11  But I think it helps to sort of be able to -- to 

12 sort of get more clarity, I think in terms of how -- how 

13 that focusing of our energy and thought and our planning 

14 may be facilitated if we don't mesh the two together.  

15 It's already complex as it is.  So you can begin to sort 

16 of separate the two I think.  And that lends to us 

17 creating a structure that's really going to work down the 

18 road.  But I -- I also think that then First 5 LA will get 

19 clarity as to how we fit in.  

20 MS. BELSHE:  Both ways.  

21 COMMISSIONER AU:  -- to the whole system, yeah.  

22 And it works both ways.  I really like that.  

23 COMMISSIONER DENNIS:  And I'll just end with one 

24 comment and I'll, you know, direct this at our staff. 

25  So to what degree in our neighborhoods are our -- 
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 1 our community consortiums aware of these, you know, 

 2 discussions?  And I think that's important.  That's key 

 3 and is essential and it -- it kind of rewards what we're 

 4 trying to do as far as Best Start is concerned.  So if 

 5 they're not aware, we need to make sure that they are, 

 6 that they're a part of the ongoing discussions that we're 

 7 having with mental health because that is, in essence, one 

 8 of our values. 

 9  And then, you know, secondly, I would also want 

10 to encourage us to look towards our communities in -- and 

11 I don't want to say getting permission, but they have to 

12 have knowledge.  They really -- and need to buy in, you 

13 know, because for a lot of folk in some of the communities 

14 that we work at and where we have Best Start, you talk 

15 about mental health, they think they might be crazy.  And 

16 we can help get around that stigma, you know.  And that's 

17 what they think.  I have somebody from mental health, I'm 

18 crazy.  And so this new paradigm shift, they won't be -- 

19 our families won't be aware of that.  They don't 

20 understand that.  And Best Start can be a mechanism to 

21 bring a lot better education to the communities about 

22 where mental health is going as far as looking at 

23 community and how it sees itself and you don't have to see 

24 yourself it in a deficit mode.  That is a really a lot 

25 more positive.  So those would be my ending comments. 
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 1 Thank you very much, Sam.  

 2 MS. BELSHE:  Than you. 

 3  COMMISSIONER DENNIS:  I'm sorry.  Jan, you had 

 4 something to say?  

 5 SPEAKER:  No problem.  I won't take too long. 

 6 I'm Jan (inaudible).  I'm LA Best Babies Network.  

 7 I wanted to really thank everybody for the opportunity to 

 8 learn more about the DMH -- the DMH neighborhood -- 

 9 neighborhood health centers.  That's not the right name.  

10 Health Neighborhoods.  Health Neighborhoods. 

11  I wanted to speak just a little bit about the 

12 depression screening and give you some ammunition to help 

13 convince the clinicians because in a previous First 5 LA 

14 grant called the Health Birth Initiative, we ran the 

15 perinatal health care quality improvement collaborative 

16 and we worked with 20 of the FQHCs in the Glade clinics to 

17 integrate depression screening during pregnancy and the 

18 post-partum period.  And you are absolutely right.  The 

19 very first thing that the providers say in a room where 

20 they're in teams from their clinics with providers, 

21 nurses, administrative assistants, medical assistants, et 

22 cetera, they say, oh, my God, we can't do this.  We'll 

23 open the flood gates and we won't be able to handle it.  

24 And that's the very first thing.  

25 We worked with them to put it in place over the 
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 1 course so that they were screening up to 90 percent of 

 2 women for perinatal depression.  The mother's feedback 

 3 was, thank God somebody's finally asking me.  The mother's 

 4 really appreciated it and it also -- the clinicians 

 5 learned that what it did was open the door to discussing 

 6 more psychosocial issues and identifying things that they 

 7 were prepared to handle like referrals to needs for 

 8 housing or WIC or food banks or transportation.  So it 

 9 really opened that discussion.  

10 And at the end of the collaborative, when we do a 

11 harvest to get learnings from the sites, two of the 

12 clinics -- well, all of the clinics indicated that they 

13 had identified people with suicidal ideation that they 

14 would not have picked up without doing the screening.  All 

15 of them, all 20.  And one of them was brave enough to get 

16 up and say how negative she was about trying to integrate 

17 this into her system, but it really did not cause the 

18 problem that they had anticipated.  It opened the door for 

19 all of these other discussions that they could handle. 

20  So you can use that as you're talking to 

21 clinicians.  You have evidence from the field that it's 

22 not going to open a flood gate they can't handle.

23 COMMISSIONER DENNIS:  Thank you, Jan. 

24  Okay.  I thank you all very much for giving us so 

25 much of your afternoon and your time and your 
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 1 intelligence.  We look forward to the ongoing discussions 

 2 and collaborations.  And is this just the beginning.  But 

 3 in marv's mind, we've been doing this for the last two 

 4 years.

 5 MS. BELSHE:  And to be clear, I know we are going 

 6 to run a few minutes late.  We have one more agenda item, 

 7 but I do want to underscore that Marv has raised this 

 8 issue consistently in the context of commission meetings.  

 9 And as the commissioner knows and our colleagues know, our 

10 respective staffs have been working together for many, 

11 many months.  And we wanted to get to a point in both of 

12 the development of Best Start as well as Health 

13 Neighborhoods where we actually have something more 

14 concrete to share.  So I think we're at that point.  We 

15 obviously have a lot more work to do.  But I really want 

16 to commend the partnership that Rafael and Antoinette and 

17 Barb and the Best Start team have brought to the terrific 

18 work that Sam and Kathy and others are leading.  

19 We're at -- it's still formative, but there's 

20 something there that we can now really talk about.  

21 COMMISSIONER DENNIS:  And, Sam, you tell Marv it 

22 was wonderful.  You tell him we're working together.

23 MR. CHAN:  You know, Marv is wonderful because 15 

24 years ago, before I came to DMH, I sat down with Marv at 

25 lunch for all the children's planning council work we did 

121



 1 together.  He said, you come to DMH.  I said, if it's your 

 2 vision, I'm coming.  

 3 MS. BELSHE:  Thank you so much.

 4 COMMISSIONER DENNIS:  He's a social worker.  He 

 5 is a social worker.  

 6 MS. BELSHE:  So you all are welcome to stay if 

 7 you would like, but we're going to probably spend at least 

 8 ten minutes, hopefully not much longer.  Five?  Because 

 9 this an information item, and I think we'll encourage you 

10 all to draw attention to the new information that 

11 commissioners haven't seen relative to the initial 

12 legislative --

13 COMMISSIONER DENNIS:  All right.  Policy, go to 

14 work.  

15 MR. NOLLEDO:  So good afternoon, commissioners.  

16 We are here to talk about bills.  Specifically --

17 MS. BELSHE:  I'm sorry.  Who is the adorable 

18 little boy?  

19 MR. GONZALEZ:  That is my critter.  

20 COMMISSIONER DENNIS:  You took a picture right 

21 out here.  

22 MS. BELSHE:  Is this Finnegan?  

23 MR. NOLLEDO:  Yes, it is.  That is my spirit 

24 animal, Finnegan. 

25  We are here to provide the brief overview of 
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 1 First 5 LA's 2015 legislative agenda for action at the 

 2 April commission meeting. 

 3  And before we start, I just wanted to say thank 

 4 you to commissioners for approving the criteria at the 

 5 last commission meeting.  It really helps us focus our 

 6 activities in regards to issues such as home visiting ECE, 

 7 anything that would directly affect First 5 LA and others. 

 8  So in addition to the criteria that we just saw, 

 9 there are also additional considerations.  I'm not going 

10 to go through all of them, but this week the most salient 

11 one is staff capacity as we count down to Roberto's last 

12 day.  And this is just a brief overview of the development 

13 process of our legislative agenda.  Please note the bubble 

14 in gold which is what's going to happen in April.  As we 

15 go to commission, we will discuss and approve the 

16 legislative agenda. 

17  So what's new right now is that staff is 

18 currently reviewing all of the bills that have been 

19 introduced in the legislative session.  Bills have been 

20 identified that are relevant and/or related to our 

21 priorities, but they're all mostly in the early stages of 

22 development.  As a result, if you take a look at the 

23 legislative agenda that's in your packet, staff has not 

24 yet recommended positions on bills.  So as bills are 

25 amended and clarified, we will be making recommendations 
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 1 official support on certainly bills. 

 2  And actually we were actually going to talk about 

 3 the sum of the other bills in detail, but if you have 

 4 questions on any of theme during the Q and A portion, 

 5 we'll be more than happy to answer that.  

 6 MS. BELSHE:  So included in the board packet were 

 7 a first cut of about a dozen or so bills.

 8 MR. NOLLEDO:    Yes, 14 bills over the next -- 

 9 they're all related to the criteria that was approved.  So 

10 a number of them were ECE, home visiting, child care 

11 related bills and there were at least two bills that had 

12 to do with tobacco -- either tobacco or tobacco taxation.  

13 MS. BELSHE:  And I think we should -- I'm sorry.  

14 Go ahead.  

15 MR. NOLLEDO:  So staff will continue to review 

16 bills as we continue to get them And refine the 

17 legislative agenda.  And we will be presenting an updated 

18 one to -- at the next commission meeting in April. 

19  So that was the briefest I could make it.

20 MS. BELSHE:  That was pretty good.  

21 COMMISSIONER DENNIS:  So many questions?  Nancy.  

22 COMMISSIONER AU:  Perhaps there could be another 

23 column that sort of gives you your best take as to what is 

24 -- what bill is sort of having the most support, let's 

25 say, or potential for passing.  And I think that -- for 
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 1 me, that would be helpful.  

 2 COMMISSIONER DENNIS:  The Office of Child Care 

 3 actually uses the folks -- a matrix which shows the folks 

 4 who are supporting it.  So you're aware of all the 

 5 advocates who have support of a particular bill and it 

 6 gives us so -- you know, so you'll know the health 

 7 advocates, CTA, early childhood advocates.  That may be 

 8 helpful as well.

 9 MS. BELSHE:  So if that's agreeable, because that 

10 actually is a very important consideration for how we're 

11 thinking about where we would invest our resources.  So 

12 it's hard to say, Nancy, right now much less in the fall 

13 what may or may not pass.  But understanding who's engaged 

14 either on the yes side or the no side is a pretty good 

15 proxy for determining what bills likely are going to move.  

16 That's probably as important a proxy as anything at this 

17 stage because so many of these bills that you see on the 

18 draft list, they're just what are called spot bills.  

19 They're statements of intent and they're going to get 

20 modified a little bit at this stage just to move to the 

21 next committee by the time of certain deadlines.  But the 

22 real guts of it we're not going to know until we really 

23 dig in along with some of these other --

24 COMMISSIONER AU:  Sounds good.  

25 MR. NOLLEDO:  And, definitely, when we do the 
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 1 legislative analysis on the bills we actually do have a 

 2 section that says specific to who are the supporters and 

 3 opponents of bills.  So we can include that information 

 4 easily.  

 5 COMMISSIONER DENNIS:  That will be great.  

 6 COMMISSIONER TILTON:  Do we support all of the 

 7 bills that are listed?  

 8 MR. NOLLEDO:  No.  At this point, we're just 

 9 reviewing.

10 MS. BELSHE:  The ones that have our attention for 

11 more due diligence.

12 COMMISSIONER TILTON:  At such point that we are 

13 supporting bills, it might be good for those of us who 

14 have other organizations to try to develop some support 

15 for a broader spectrum, broader base.  

16 MS. BELSHE:  So that's a good reminder, 

17 gentlemen, to include in what we bring to the board in 

18 April a reminder of the different ways commissioners can 

19 be engaged in supporting and advancing our work for the 

20 legislative agenda the board ultimately agrees to.  

21 MR. NOLLEDO:  Absolutely.  

22 COMMISSIONER DENNIS:  I saw Senator Mitchell 

23 yesterday so he may want to look at her child care bill.  

24 I noticed you didn't have that in the mix.  So that's 

25 something we probably want to look at.

126



 1 MR. NOLLEDO:  Yes.  Absolutely.

 2 COMMISSIONER DENNIS:  Okay.

 3 COMMISSIONER AU:  There is the -- the plan 

 4 ambassador training sessions next month.

 5 MS. BELSHE:  Uh-huh.

 6 COMMISSIONER AU:  Perhaps we can sort of embed in 

 7 that sort of notion of advocating, connecting other folks 

 8 you are connected to support some policy positions.

 9 MS. BELSHE:  I wouldn't -- let us think through 

10 that idea, Nancy, because what I want to make sure is we 

11 don't try to do too many things with those grand 

12 ambassador training sessions.  But maybe -- maybe bills 

13 could be a good entry point or example for advocacy.  

14 COMMISSIONER DENNIS:  Great.  Roberto, we're 

15 going to miss you, but, obviously, we will have connection 

16 with you in your new role.  We will take advantage of our 

17 mileage of you and our relationship.  And so like I told 

18 Genie, I'll tell you the same thing, we will be calling 

19 upon and you the supervisor as we try to develop our 

20 agenda.  

21 MR. VIRAMONTES:  Looking forward to it.  

22 COMMISSIONER DENNIS:  This meeting is adjourned, 

23 folks.  

24 (At 4:42 p.m., the meeting was adjourned.)

25
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